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Internal Audit Function

The Group Internal Audit Department (GIAD) is constantly upgrading its audit approach, maintaining a competent 
audit team and expanding its scope to encompass risk-based plans. The internal audit plan had been developed not 
only to identify weaknesses in policies, practices and controls, but in response to changes in the organization risks. 
This will enable the Group Internal Auditor to provide the Audit Committee with an overview of the audit strategy, 
audit timing, significant risks identified, their impact, and mitigation plans in the form of corrective measures and 
preventive actions. To remain relevant and best serve the organizational needs, the internal audit team has shifted its 
attention to risk-based audit and focus on effective risk management practices which has becoming more important in 
view of global economic uncertainty, rapidly changing technology and environment factors, and increasing regulatory 
compliance.

The GIAD’s mission is to provide objective and independent assurance of the Group’s system of internal controls 
as well as reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, governance and control processes which 
were being established to manage risks and operations. It also monitors compliance with policies, guidelines, laws 
and regulations. Any internal control weaknesses and the appropriate audit recommendations would be discussed 
and reported to the management for corrective/preventive actions. This is to improve operations, enable accurate 
reporting, proper safeguarding of assets and promoting economic yet effective utilisation of resources. Significant 
findings and corrective measures in respect of any non-compliance are highlighted to the Audit Committee. The GIAD 
had continued to increase its workforce, and is committed in giving value-added services to the Group and performing 
the audit function in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework on Internal Auditing.

The Group had engaged a local professional services firm to support the existing internal audit function based on the 
audit plan being recommended by the Group Internal Auditor and this had been approved by the Audit Committee. By 
working closely together, the auditors from both the GIAD and the local firm can exchange ideas, and share their audit 
techniques in strengthening the audit function for the Group.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal control applies principally to Yee Lee Corporation Bhd and its 
subsidiaries. Associated company has been excluded because the Group does not have full management and control 
over it.

Review of the Statement by External Auditors

As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Listing Requirements, the External Auditors, Messrs Deloitte (formerly known 
as Deloitte KassimChan), have reviewed this Statement in accordance with the Recommended Practice Guide 5 
(Revised) issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, for inclusion in the Annual Report for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2013 and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to 
believe that this Statement is not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with the disclosures required by 
Paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Guidelines, nor is factually inaccurate.

Conclusion

The Board has received assurance from the Group Managing Director and Group Financial Controller that the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems have operated adequately and effectively, in all material aspects, 
during the financial year under review and up to the date of this Statement.

The Board is of the view that the system of risk management and internal control in place is sound and sufficient 
to protect the Group’s interest and that of its stakeholders. In addition, the Board continues to take appropriate 
measures to sustain, and, where required, to improve the Group’s risk management and internal control systems in 
meeting the Group’s strategic objectives.

This Statement was approved by the Board of Directors on May 8, 2014.

statement on risk management
and internal control
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directors’
report

The directors of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD. have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements 
of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally involved in investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary companies 
during the financial year.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The results of operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year are as follows:

The Group
RM’000

The Company
RM’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 33,545 6,145

In the opinion of the directors, the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year have not 
been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDENDS

A first and final dividend of 2.0 sen per share, less tax and 0.5 sen per share, tax-exempt, proposed in respect of ordinary 
shares in the previous financial year and dealt with in the previous directors’ report was paid by the Company during the 
financial year.

The directors proposed a first and final dividend of 3.0 sen per share, under the single tier system, in respect of the current 
financial year. This dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the 
Company and has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed in the 
financial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital during the financial year by the issuance of 2,760,000 
new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an exercise price of RM0.78 per ordinary share, and 17,500 new ordinary shares of 
RM0.50 each at an exercise price of RM1.26 per ordinary share respectively pursuant to the exercise of Executives’ Share 
Option Scheme of the Company.

The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company.

The resultant premium arising from the shares issued of RM786,100 has been credited to the share premium account.

The Company has not issued any debentures during the financial year. 
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EXECUTIVES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME (“ESOS”)

Under the Company’s ESOS which has been approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 27, 2012, options to 
subscribe for new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the Company were granted to Eligible Executives who include directors 
and executive employees of the Group and of the Company during the financial year.

The salient features of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the statements of profit or loss and the statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were made 
out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(a)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate 
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their book values in the ordinary course of business have 
been written down to their estimated realisable values.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a)	 which would render the amount written off as bad debts or the amount of allowance for doubtful debts in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading; or

(c)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of 
the Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(d)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year and 
secures the liability of any other person; or

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve 
months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of 
the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval 
between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of operations 
of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 
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DIRECTORS

The following directors served on the Board of the Company since the date of the last report:

Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff, DSIS, DSPN, JSM, DJN, SMS, KMN, PPT, PJK
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, JSM, DPMP, JP 
Mr. Thang Lai Sung
Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt, PMP
Mr. Lim Ee Young 
Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik, DJMK, SMK 
Mr. Lee Kee Hong 
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong

In accordance with Article 85 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee Kee Hong and Mr. Sow Yeng Chong retire by 
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed 
Ariff, DSIS, DSPN, JSM, DJN, SMS, KMN, PPT, PJK and Mr. Thang Lai Sung retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for  
re-appointment.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The shareholdings in the Company and in the holding company of those who were directors at the end of the financial year, 
as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, 
are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each

Balance
as of

1.1.2013 Bought Sold

Balance
as of

31.12.2013

Shares in the Company

Registered in the name of directors

Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji 
	 Mohamed Ariff 2,978,614 50,000 (50,000) 2,978,614

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 3,743,875 865,547 - 4,609,422

Mr. Thang Lai Sung 23,503 86,545 (13,000) 97,048

Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt 136,532 120,000 (50,000) 206,532

Mr. Lim Ee Young 213,987 494,369 - 708,356

Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik 46,664 45,000 - 91,664

Mr. Lee Kee Hong 25,312 45,000 - 70,312

Mr. Sow Yeng Chong 56,000 55,000 (100,000) 11,000

directors’ report
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Number of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each

Balance
as of

1.1.2013 Bought Sold

Balance
as of

31.12.2013

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by a company in 
which a director has interest

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 97,631,288 838,108 (955,533) 97,513,863

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by immediate family 
members of the directors

Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji 
	 Mohamed Ariff 540,000 - (85,000) 455,000

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 1,094,258 757,246 - 1,851,504

Mr. Lim Ee Young 14,000 - - 14,000

Mr. Sow Yeng Chong - 1,808 - 1,808

Number of options over ordinary shares 
of RM0.50 each

Balance
as of

1.1.2013 Granted Exercised

Balance
as of

31.12.2013

Share options of the Company

Registered in the name of directors

Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji 
	 Mohamed Ariff 50,000 50,000 (50,000) 50,000

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 200,000 225,000 (200,000) 225,000

Mr. Thang Lai Sung 118,000 122,500 (43,000) 197,500

Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt 145,000 147,500 (120,000) 172,500

Mr. Lim Ee Young 197,500 225,000 (150,000) 272,500

Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik 45,000 45,000 (45,000) 45,000

Mr. Lee Kee Hong 45,000 45,000 (45,000) 45,000

Mr. Sow Yeng Chong 45,000 45,000 (45,000) 45,000

directors’ report
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Number of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

Balance
as of

1.1.2013 Bought Sold

Balance
as of

31.12.2013

Shares in the holding company, Yee Lee Organization Bhd.

Registered in the name of directors

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 2,751 - - 2,751

Mr. Thang Lai Sung 1,716 - - 1,716

Mr. Lim Ee Young 31,614 - - 31,614

Mr. Lee Kee Hong 19,800 - - 19,800

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by companies in 
which a director has interest

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 7,799,820 - - 7,799,820

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by immediate family 
members of a director 

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 162,583 12,103 - 174,686

By virtue of his interest in the shares of the holding company, Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, JSM, DPMP, JP 
is also deemed to have an interest in the shares of all the subsidiary companies to the extent that the holding company has 
interest. 

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the directors of the Company has received or become entitled to receive 
any benefit (other than the benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 
directors as disclosed in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation 
with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest 
except for any benefit which may be deemed to have arisen by virtue of the transactions between the Company and certain 
companies in which certain directors of the Company are also directors and/or shareholders as disclosed in Note 21 to the 
financial statements.

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Company was a party whereby directors 
of the Company might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporate.

directors’ report
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HOLDING COMPANY

The immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Yee Lee Organization Bhd., a company incorporated  
in Malaysia.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs. Deloitte (formerly known as Deloitte KassimChan), have indicated their willingness to continue  
in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

Y. BHG. DATO’ LIM A HENG @ LIM KOK CHEONG, JSM, DPMP, JP 
Group Managing Director

MR. CHOK HOOA @ CHOK YIN FATT, PMP
Executive Director

Ipoh,
March 17, 2014

directors’ report
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd., which comprise the statements of financial position 
of the Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and the statements of profit or loss, statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the 
Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as 
set out on pages 41 to 128. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements so as to give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The 
directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as 
of December 31, 2013 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

independent
auditors’ report
to the members of yee lee corporation bhd.
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report that:

(a)	 in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by 
the subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act;

(b)	 we have considered the accounts and auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries, of which we have not acted as auditors, 
which are indicated in Note 15 to the financial statements; 

(c)	 we are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements of the 
Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements 
of the Group, and we have received satisfactory information and explanations as required by us for those purposes; and

(d)	 the auditors’ reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made 
under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 37 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary 
information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or 
Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements” as issued by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, 
the supplementary information is prepared in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matter

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 
1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards any other person for the contents of 
this report.

DELOITTE 
AF 0080
Chartered Accountants

YEOH SIEW MING
Partner - 2421/05/15(J/PH)
Chartered Accountant

March 17, 2014

independent auditors’ report
to the members of yee lee corporation bhd.
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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The Group The Company

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Revenue 5 658,290 699,775 6,970 4,908

Investment revenue 7 1,274 637 - -

Other gains and losses 8 7,967 5,393 - -

Changes in inventories of finished goods, 
trading merchandise and  
work-in-progress 8 1,448 (6,836) - -

Raw materials and consumables used 8 (266,519) (275,617) - -

Purchase of finished goods and trading 
merchandise (230,484) (260,232) - -

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 12 (10,597) (10,294) - -

Employee benefits expense 8 (52,270) (51,282) (240) (201)

Finance costs 9 (5,231) (6,636) (61) (67)

Other expenses 8 (67,378) (69,865) (237) (334)

Share of profit of an associated company 16 6,238 4,347 - -

Profit before tax 42,738 29,390 6,432 4,306

Income tax expense 10 (9,193) (7,363) (287) (115)

Profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the Company 33,545 22,027 6,145 4,191

Earnings per share

Basic (sen) 11 18.96 12.55

Diluted (sen) 11 18.92 12.52

statements of
profit or loss
for the year ended december 31, 2013

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Profit for the year 33,545 22,027 6,145 4,191

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income of 

associated company 342 302 - -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign 

entity 1,041 (579) - -

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Net fair value gain on available-for-sale 

financial assets during the year 1 1 - -

Net fair value gain on investments in subsidiary 
companies during the year - - 26,822 31,488

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year 1,384 (276) 26,822 31,488

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
owners of the Company 34,929 21,751 32,967 35,679

statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
for the year ended december 31, 2013

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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statements of
financial position
as of december 31, 2013

The Group The Company

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 245,680 236,921 - -

Investment properties 13 6,840 4,460 - -

Investments in subsidiary companies 15 - - 277,421 249,345

Investment in an associated company 16 54,967 49,584 29,965 29,471

Other investments 17 13 12 - -

Goodwill on consolidation 18 1,612 1,612 - -

Total non-current assets 309,112 292,589 307,386 278,816

Current assets

Inventories 19 72,355 64,214 - -

Trade and other receivables 20 136,607 142,440 16,755 15,073

Current tax assets 10 1,315 3,450 393 442

Other assets 22 5,786 3,041 2 4

Deposits, cash and bank balances 23 36,012 36,026 22 25

Total current assets 252,075 249,171 17,172 15,544

Total assets 561,187 541,760 324,558 294,360
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The Group The Company

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital 24 89,182 87,793 89,182 87,793

Reserves 25 56,817 53,819 196,967 168,580

Retained earnings 25 177,930 147,403 28,950 25,823

Total equity 323,929 289,015 315,099 282,196

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 26 7,127 9,871 - -

Deferred tax liabilities 28 21,406 20,321 - -

Total non-current liabilities 28,533 30,192 - -

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 93,579 92,063 8,260 10,993

Borrowings 26 95,863 111,879 1,000 1,000

Current tax liabilities 10 568 2,307 - -

Other liabilities 30 18,715 16,304 199 171

Total current liabilities 208,725 222,553 9,459 12,164

Total liabilities 237,258 252,745 9,459 12,164

Total equity and liabilities 561,187 541,760 324,558 294,360

Statements of financial position
as of december 31, 2013

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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statements of
changes in equity
for the year ended december 31, 2013
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Statements of changes in equity
as of december 31, 2013
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Statements of changes in equity
as of december 31, 2013
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The Group

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 33,545 22,027

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10,597 10,294

Income tax expense recognised in statement of profit or loss 9,193 7,363

Finance costs 5,231 6,636

Inventories written off 1,391 2,027

Equity-settled share-based payments 1,315 739

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 371 380

Property, plant and equipment written off 344 202

Bad debts written off 262 189

Inventories written down/(back) - net 202 (924)

Share of profit of an associated company (6,238) (4,347)

Gain arising on changes in fair value of investment properties (1,918) -

Investment revenue recognised in statements of profit or loss (1,274) (637)

Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange (244) 109

Reversal of impairment losses recognised on receivables (190) (977)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - net (89) (42)

Tax penalty - 38

Gain on disposal of non-current assets classified as held for sale - (390)

52,498 42,687

Movements in working capital:

Decrease/(Increase) in:

Inventories (9,473) 8,793

Trade and other receivables 5,949 12,105

Other assets (7,979) 494

Increase in:

Trade and other payables 1,370 2,300

Other liabilities 2,375 1,947

Cash Generated From Operations 44,740 68,326

Tax refunded 1,600 1,748

Tax paid (9,393) (6,036)

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities 36,947 64,038

statements of
cash flows
for the year ended december 31, 2013
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The Group

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Dividends received from an associated company 1,690 1,268

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,541 226

Interest received 1,087 522

Rental from investment properties received 186 114

Dividends received from quoted shares 1 1

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 34(a) (13,904) (9,096)

Purchase of additional shares in associated company (494) -

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets classified as held for sale - 2,950

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (9,893) (4,015)

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares arising from exercise of ESOS 2,175 11

Repayment of bankers’ acceptances (10,081) (36,333)

Finance costs paid (5,243) (6,654)

Dividend paid (3,554) (3,292)

Repayment of term loans (3,316) (3,154)

Repayment of hire-purchase payables (1,566) (1,403)

(Repayment of)/Proceeds from trust receipts (436) 106

Proceeds from term loans - 993

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities (22,021) (49,726)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,033 10,297

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 26,385 16,219

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign 
currencies 304 (131)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 34(b) 31,722 26,385

Statements of cash flows
for the year ended december 31, 2013

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The Company

Note
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 6,145 4,191

Adjustments for:

Income tax expense recognised in statement of profit or loss 287 115

Equity-settled share-based payments 61 36

Finance costs 61 67

Dividend income (6,970) (4,908)

(416) (499)

Movements in working capital:

Decrease/(Increase) in other assets 2 -

Increase/(Decrease) in:

Other payables (14) 26

Other liabilities 28 10

Cash Used In Operations (400) (463)

Dividends received 6,732 4,708

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities 6,332 4,245

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Advances granted to subsidiary company - net (1,682) (1,372)

Acquisition of additional shares in associated company (494) -

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (2,176) (1,372)

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares arising from exercise of ESOS 2,175 11

Dividend paid (3,554) (3,292)

(Repayment to)/Advances received from subsidiary company - net (2,719) 1,110

Finance costs paid (61) (67)

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities (4,159) (2,238)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3) 635

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 25 (610)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 34(b) 22 25

Statements of cash flows
for the year ended december 31, 2013

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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notes to the
financial statements

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

	 The Company is a company with limited liability, domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

	 The Company is principally involved in investment holding.

	 The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 15. 

	 There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary 
companies during the financial year.

	 The registered office and principal place of business of the Company are located atLot 85, Jalan Portland, Tasek Industrial 
Estate, 31400 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan, Malaysia.

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on March 17, 2014.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“FRSs”)

	
	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with FRSs and the 

provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

2.1	 Adoption of new and revised FRSs 

	 New and revised FRSs affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the financial statements

	 In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied a number of new and revised FRSs issued by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that 
begins on or after January 1, 2013.

	 The adoption of the new and revised FRSs has had no material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, except as follows:

	 FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

	 The Group and the Company have applied FRS 13 for the first time in the current year. FRS 13 establishes a single 
source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about the fair value measurements. The scope of 
FRS 13 is broad; the fair value measurement requirements of FRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items and 
non-financial instrument items for which other FRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures 
about fair value measurements, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 2 
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 117 Leases, and measurements that 
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring 
inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

	 FRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market 
conditions. Fair value under FRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated 
using another valuation technique. Also, FRS 13 includes extensive disclosure requirements.

	 FRS 13 requires prospective application from January 1, 2013. In addition, specific transitional provisions were 
given to entities such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the Standard in comparative 
information provided for periods before the initial application of the Standard. In accordance with these transitional 
provisions, the Group and the Company have not made any new disclosures required by FRS 13 for the 2012 
comparative period (please see Notes 12, 13 and 33 for the 2013 disclosures). Other than the additional disclosures, 
the application of FRS 13 has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in these financial statements.
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notes to the financial statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“FRSs”) (CONT’D)

2.1	 Adoption of new and revised FRSs (Cont’d)

	 Amendments to FRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 

	 The Group and the Company have applied the amendments to FRS 101 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income for the first time in the current year. The amendments introduce new terminology, whose use is not 
mandatory, for the statement of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to FRS 101, 
the “statement of comprehensive income” is renamed as the “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income” and the “income statement” is renamed as the “statement of profit or loss”. The amendments to FRS 101 
retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or in two 
separate but consecutive statements. However, the amendments to FRS 101 require items of other comprehensive 
income to be grouped into two categories in other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated 
on the same basis- the amendments do not change the option to present items of other comprehensive income 
either before tax or net of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the presentation of 
items of other comprehensive income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than the abovementioned 
presentation changes, the application of the amendments to FRS 101 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, 
other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.

	 Adoption of the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards Framework (“MFRS Framework”)

	 On November 19, 2011, the MASB has issued a new MASB approved accounting framework, the MFRS Framework, 
a fully-IFRS compliant framework. Entities other than private entities shall apply the MFRS Framework for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, with the exception of Transitioning Entities (“TEs”).

	 TEs, being entities with the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture and/or IC Interpretation 15: Agreements for the Construction 
of Real Estate, including its parents, significant investors and venturers were given a transitional period of two years, 
which allow these entities an option to continue with the FRS Framework. Following the announcement by the 
MASB on August 7, 2013, the transitional period for TEs has been extended for an additional year.

	 The Group and the Company being TEs have availed themselves of this transitional arrangement and will continue 
to apply FRSs in the preparation of its financial statements. Accordingly, the Group and the Company will be 
required to prepare its first set of MFRS financial statements when the MFRS financial statements when the MFRS 
Framework is mandated by MASB.

2.2	 Standards and IC Interpretations (“IC Int.”) in issue but not yet effective

	 As at the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements, the new and revised Standards and IC Int. 
which were in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted by the Group and the Company are as listed below:

	 FRS 9	 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009)1

	 FRS 9	 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in October 2010)1

	 FRS 9	 Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and amendments to FRS 9, FRS 7 and FRS 139)1

	 IC Int. 21	 Levies2

	 Amendments to	 Mandatory Effective Date of FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009 and 
	 FRS 9 and FRS 7 	 October 2010 respectively) and Transition Disclosures1

	 Amendments to FRS 10,	 Investment Entities2

	 FRS 12 and FRS 127
	 Amendments to FRS 119	 Employee Benefits (Amendments relating to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions)
	 Amendments to FRS 132	 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendments relating to Offsetting Financial Assets and  

	 Financial Liabilities)2

	 Amendments to FRS 136	 Impairment of Assets (Amendments relating to Recoverable Amounts Disclosures for  
	 Non-Financial Assets)2

	 Amendments to FRS 139	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendments relating to Novation of 
	 Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting)2
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notes to the financial statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“FRSs”) (CONT’D)

2.2	 Standards and IC Interpretations (“IC Int.”) in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to FRSs contained in the document entitled Annual Improvements to FRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
Amendments to FRSs contained in the document entitled Annual Improvements to FRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle
	
1	 The mandatory effective date of FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009 and October 2010 respectively) 

which was for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 has been removed with the issuance of FRS 
9 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting and amendments to FRS 9, FRS 7 and FRS 139. The effective date of 
FRS 9 will be decided when IASB’s IFRS 9 project is closer to completion. However, each version of the FRS 9 is 
available for early adoption.

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

FRS 9 and Amendments Relating to Mandatory Effective Date of FRS 9 and Transition Disclosures 

	 FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in October 2010) includes the requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition. 

	 The amendments to FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009 and October 2010 respectively) (“FRS 9”) 
relating to “Mandatory Effective Date of FRS 9 and Transition Disclosures” which became immediately effective on 
the issuance date of March 1, 2012 amended the mandatory effective date of FRS 9 to annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2015 instead of on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application still permitted as well as 
modified the relief from restating prior periods. However, this mandatory effective date has been removed with 
the issuance of FRS 9 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting and Amendments to FRS 9, FRS 7 and FRS 139. FRS 7 
which was also amended in tandem with the issuance of the aforementioned amendments introduces new disclosure 
requirements that are either permitted or required on the basis of the entity’s date of adoption and whether the 
entity chooses to restate prior periods. 

Key requirements of FRS 9: 

•	 all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt 
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other 
debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting 
periods. In addition, under FRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes 
in the fair value of equity instrument (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only 
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss. 

•	 with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, FRS 
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes 
in the credit risk of that liability, is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the 
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are 
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under FRS 139, the entire amount of the change in the 
fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss. 

	 The directors do not anticipate the application of FRS 9 to have significant impact on amounts reported in respect 
of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide 
a reasonable estimate of the effect of FRS 9 until a detailed review has been completed.
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notes to the financial statements

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“FRSs”) (CONT’D)

2.2	 Standards and IC Interpretations (“IC Int.”) in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to FRS 10, FRS 12 and FRS 127 Investment Entities

	 The amendments to FRS 10 define an investment entity and require a reporting entity that meets the definition of 
an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through 
profit or loss in its consolidated and separate financial statements.

To qualify as an investment entity, a reporting entity is required to:
•	 obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing them with professional investment 

management services;
•	 commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, 

investment income, or both; and
•	 measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

	 Consequential amendments have been made to FRS 12 and FRS 127 to introduce new disclosure requirements for 
investment entities.

	 The directors do not anticipate that the investment entities amendments will have any effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to FRS 132 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

	 The amendments to FRS 132 clarify the requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities.
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and 
“simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

	 The directors do not anticipate that the application of these amendments to FRS 132 will have a significant impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have any financial assets and financial 
liabilities that qualify for offset.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 Basis of Accounting

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain non-current assets and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, at the end of 
each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 
of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of FRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 117, and measurements that have 
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 102 or value in use in FRS 136.
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notes to the financial statements

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 Basis of Accounting (Cont’d)

	 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

	 The principal accounting policies are set out below.

	 Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and of the subsidiary 
companies controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;
•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

	 The Company reassessed whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

•	 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

•	 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
•	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
•	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 

to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings. 

	 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

	 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

	 All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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	 Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the relevant assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to 
profit or loss or transferred or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable FRSs). The 
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value 
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, 
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture. 

	 Business Combinations

	 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

At acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

•	 deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 
and measured in accordance with FRS 112 Income Taxes and FRS 119 Employee Benefits respectively;

•	 liabilities or equity instruments related to the share-based payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based 
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquire are 
measured in accordance with FRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

•	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

	 Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds 
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

	 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured 
at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRSs.

	 Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value. 
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments 
that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from 
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 
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	 Business Combinations (Cont’d)

	 The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting 
dates in accordance with FRS 139 or FRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with 
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

	 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree is 
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts 
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were 
disposed of.

	 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date 
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

	 The policy described above is applied to all business combinations that take place on or after January 1, 2011.

	 Revenue Recognition

	 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
•	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold;
•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

	 Rendering of services

	 Revenue from provision of tourism related services are recognised when the services are provided.

	 Dividend revenue

	 Dividend income represents gross dividends from quoted and unquoted investments and is recognised when the 
shareholder’s rights to receive payment is established.

	 Interest income 

	 Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the Company and 
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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	 Revenue Recognition (Cont’d)

	 Rental income

	 Rental income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the agreements entered.

	 Employee Benefits

	 Short-term employee benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated absences such 
as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future 
compensated absences. Short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when 
the absences occur.

	 Defined contribution plans

	 The Group makes statutory contributions to approved provident funds and the contributions are charged to statements 
of profit or loss as incurred. The approved provident funds are defined contribution plans. Once the contributions have 
been paid, there are no further payment obligations.

	 Share-based compensation benefits

	 The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, where shares and/or options are issued by 
the Company to eligible directors and executive employees of the Group and of the Company. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares and/or options is recognised as an expense with a 
corresponding entry to reserves over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the shares and/or options granted at the grant date and the number of shares 
and/or options vested by vesting date, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in the estimates of the number of the options that are expected to become exercisable. The 
grant of options by the Company over its equity instruments to the directors and employees of subsidiary undertakings 
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to 
the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, 
with a corresponding credit to equity.

	 Foreign Currencies

	 The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the functional 
currency of the Company, and also the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

	 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at thatdate. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

	 Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise except for exchange differences 
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, the exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 Foreign Currencies (Cont’d)

	 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, assets and liabilities of the foreign incorporated 
subsidiary of the Group are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates 
fluctuated significantly during that year, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation 
reserve of the Group. Such exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss in the year in which the foreign 
incorporated subsidiary is disposed of.

	 The closing rate per unit of Ringgit Malaysia used in the translation of functional currency of the subsidiary company 
(foreign currency) is as follows:

	 Foreign currency

2013 2012

RM RM

Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) 6,435.00 6,802.72

	 Effective from January 1, 2012, the foreign subsidiary changed its reporting currency from USD to VND as the directors 
believe that the use of VND is more reflective of the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances 
relevant to the subsidiary’s operations and majority of the subsidiary’s transactions are denominated in VND.

	 Borrowing Costs 

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which require a 
substantial period of time to get them ready for their intended use, are capitalised and included as part of the cost of the 
related assets. Capitalisation of borrowing costs will cease when the assets are ready for their intended use.

	 All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

	 Government Grants

	 Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

	 Government grants related to income are recognised as income or as a deduction against the related expenses in profit 
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

	 Government grants related to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets.

	 Taxation

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

	 Current tax

	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in statements 
of profit or lossbecause it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The liability of the Group and of the Company for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 Taxation (Cont’d)

	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

	 The tax effects of unutilised reinvestment allowance are only recognised upon actual realisation.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

	 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured 
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through 
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable 
and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied 
in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s 
investment property portfolio and concluded that none of the Group’s investment properties are held under a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties 
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors have determined that the “sale” presumption set out in the 
amendments to FRS 112 is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair values 
of investment properties based on the expected tax rate that would apply on disposal of the investment properties.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

	 Current and deferred tax for the year

	 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in statements of profit or loss, except when they relate 
to items that are recognised outside statements of profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside statements of profit or loss, or where they arise from the 
initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account 
in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the interest of the acquirer in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost of the acquiree.
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	 Property, Plant and Equipment

	 Land and buildings are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at 
the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 
which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

	 Any revaluation increase arising from the revaluation of such land and buildings is credited to the property revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in 
statements of profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to statements of profit or loss to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged to statements of profit or loss. A decrease in carrying amount arising from the revaluation 
of such land and buildings are charged to statements of profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, 
held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

	 Depreciation on revalued buildings are charged to statements of profit or loss. On subsequent sale or retirement of 
a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred 
directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when the 
asset is derecognised.

	 Buildings, electricity and water supply system, plant and machinery, motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and equipment 
and renovations are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

	 Freehold land, plantation development expenditure and capital work-in-progress are not depreciated. Capital work-in-
progress comprises contractors’ payments and directly attributable costs incurred in preparing these assets for their 
intended use. Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

	 Leasehold land is amortised over the lease period ranging from 19 to 87 years. Depreciation of other property, plant 
and equipment is computed on the reducing balance method to write off the cost of the various property, plant and 
equipment over their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:

	
	 Buildings	 2% to 10%
	 Electricity and water supply system	 10%
	 Plant and machinery	 2% to 50%
	 Motor vehicles	 10% to 20%
	 Furniture, fixtures and equipment	 10% to 33%
	 Renovations	 10%

	 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for prospectively.

	 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. 
However, where there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

	 All direct expenses incurred for plantation development and attributable overheads, including depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment which are principally used for newly planted areas and finance costs on funds borrowed to finance 
newly planted areas are capitalised up to the maturity period as plantation development expenditure. Subsequent 
replanting costs and all other expenditure incurred subsequent to maturity are charged to the statements of profit or 
loss as and when incurred.

	 New planting costs are not amortised as the useful life of the plantation assets is effectively maintained through a 
regular systematic programme of replanting which results in replanting costs in an accounting period approximating the 
depreciation that would have been charged. Replanting costs are thus regarded as substitutes for amortisation and are 
taken to represent the cost of a continuous rejuvenation process for the plantation assets.

	 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statements of profit or loss.
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	 Property, Plant and Equipment Under Hire-Purchase Arrangements

	 Assets acquired under hire-purchase arrangements which transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incident 
to ownership of the assets are capitalised under property, plant and equipment. The assets and the corresponding  
hire-purchase obligations are recorded at their fair values or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum hire-purchase 
payments of the assets at the inception of the respective arrangements.

	 Finance costs, which represent the differences between the total hire-purchase commitments and the fair values of the 
assets acquired, are charged to statements of profit or loss over the term of the relevant hire-purchase period so as to 
give a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

	 Leases

	 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases, other than leasehold properties classified as investment property, are classified 
as operating leases. Property interest held under an operating lease to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both is 
classified as investment property.

	 Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the statements of profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to 
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the year in which they 
are incurred.

	 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. 
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed.

	 Investment Properties

	 Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/ or for capital appreciation, are measured initially 
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Fair 
value is arrived by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. Gain or loss arising from 
changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in statements of profit or loss in the year in which they 
arise. 

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment properties 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Gain or loss on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in statements of profit or loss in the year in which the retirement or 
disposal arise.

	 Investments in Subsidiary Companies

	 Investments in subsidiary companies, which are eliminated on consolidation, are classified as available-for-sale assets 
and are stated at fair value, with any resultant fair value changes recognised in equity under investments revaluation 
reserve account, except for impairment losses. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative fair value gain 
or loss previously recognised directly in equity is reclassified to statements of profit or loss. 

	 The fair values of the subsidiary companies are determined based on valuation technique as disclosed in Note 15.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 Investments in Associated Company

	 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

	 The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted 
for in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, 
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

	 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

	 Investment in associated company is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of cost of business 
combination over the interest of the Group in the net fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities recognised of the acquiree at the date of the combination. 

	 Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of thecash-generating units of the Group expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not subsequently reversed. 

	 On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination 
of profit or loss on disposal.

	 Any excess of the interest of the Group in the net fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over cost of acquisition (previously known as negative goodwill) is reassessed and is recognised immediate to 
statements of profit or loss.

	 The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described at Investments in Associated 
Company policy above.
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	 Non-Current Asset Held for Sale

	 Non-current asset (or disposal group) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management 
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification.

	 Non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

	 Impairment of Assets excluding Goodwill 

	 At the end of each reportingperiod, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of their assets (other than 
inventories, financial assets and investment properties which are dealt with in their respective policies) to determine if 
there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated.

	 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group and the Company estimate 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they 
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can 
be identified.

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted.

	 Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
statements of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount held in the asset 
revaluation reserve for the same asset. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimate used to 
determine the recoverable amount.

	 An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal is recognised immediately in the statements of profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

	 Inventories

	 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined principally on the “First-in, First-
out” and “Weighted Average” methods. Cost of trading merchandise, raw materials, consumables, factory supplies, 
fertilisers and goods-in-transit comprise the original purchase price plus cost incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprise the cost of raw materials, 
direct labour and a proportion of production overheads. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less selling and distribution costs and all other estimated costs to completion.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

	 Research and Development Costs

	 Research costs relating to the original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical 
knowledge and understanding, are recognised as an expense when incurred.

	 Development costs represent costs incurred in the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or 
design for the production of new or substantially improved materials, devices, products, processes, systems, or services 
prior to the commencement of commercial production or use. Development costs are charged to statements of profit 
or loss in the year in which it is incurred except where a clearly-defined project is undertaken and it is probable that the 
development costs will give rise to future economic benefits. Such development costs are recognised as an intangible 
asset and amortised on a straight-line method over the life of the project from the date of commencement of commercial 
operation.

	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of past event and it is probable that the Group and the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows.

	 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

	 Financial Instruments 

	 Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when the Group and the 
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

	 Where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset 
within the timeframe established by the market concerned, such financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 
trade date.

	 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets and 
financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are initially measured at fair value.

	 Effective interest method

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
asset or financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

	 Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets 
and financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a)	 Financial assets

	 Financial assets of the Group and of the Company are classified into ‘available-for-sale’ (“AFS”) financial assets 
and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

(i)	 AFS financial assets

	 AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at FVTPL. All AFS assets are measured 
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve, with the exception of 
impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains and 
losses on monetary assets, which are recognised in the statements of profit or loss. Where the investment 
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to the statements of profit or loss.

	 Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in the statements of profit or loss when the Group’s right 
to receive the dividends is established.

(ii)	 Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(iii)	 Impairment of financial assets

	 Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

	 Objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
•	 breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
•	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 

	 For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment 
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in 
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes 
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a)	 Financial assets (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

	 AFS investments are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the AFS investments, the estimated future cash 
flows of the investments have been affected. For unlisted equity investments classified as AFS, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below their costs is considered to be objective evidence 
of impairment. When an AFS investment is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in investments revaluation reserve are reclassified to the statements of profit or loss even though 
the investment has not been derecognised. Impairment losses of AFS investments previously recognised in the 
statements of profit or loss are not reversed through the statements of profit or loss. Any increase in fair value 
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in investments revaluation reserve.

	 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

	 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are debited against the allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in the statements of profit or loss.

	 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed through the statements of profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial 
assets at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised.

(iv)	 Derecognition of financial assets

	 The Group and the Company derecognise a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group and the Company neither transfer nor retain substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group and the 
Company recognise their retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If the Group and the Company retain substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

	 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in statements of profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(i)	 Classification as debt or equity

	 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

(ii)	 Equity instruments

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group and the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

(iii)	 Financial liabilities

	 Financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company, including borrowings, are classified into “other financial 
liabilities” category, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

	 Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

(iv)	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

	 The Group and the Company derecognise financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s and the 
Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.The difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in statements of profit 
or loss.

(c)	 Derivative financial instruments

	 The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk. 

	 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in statements of profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in statements of profit or loss depends on the nature of the 
hedge relationship.

	 A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset; a derivative with a negative fair value is 
recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the 
remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 
12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

	 Statements of Cash Flows

	 The Group and the Company adopt the indirect method in the preparation of the statements of cash flows.

	 Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed banks, bank overdrafts and highly 
liquid investments which are readily convertible to cash with insignificant risks of changes in value. For the purpose of 
the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

	 In the application of the accounting policies of the Group and of the Company, the directors are required to make 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

	 In the process of applying accounting policies of the Group and of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that 
there are no instances of application of judgement which are expected to have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

	 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

(a)	 Impairment of Goodwill

	 The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually in accordance with its accounting policy. More regular reviews are 
performed if events indicate that this is necessary.

	 For the purpose of assessing impairment, goodwill is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 

	 The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash 
flow projections based on a financial forecast, approved by the management covering a period of five years. The 
terminal value is calculated based on the projected terminal growth of the CGUs at the end of the fifth year.

	 The key assumptions for value-in-use include the management’s expectation of revenue growth and operating costs, 
drawing from past experience and current assessment of the market and industry growth as well as the maximum 
capacity available.

(b)	 Fair Value Estimation on Investments in Subsidiary Companies

	 The Company holds unquoted shares in subsidiary companies that are not traded in an active market. The Company 
used the Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique by estimating free cash flow to equity for financial years 2014 
to 2018 and discounting these cash flows at an appropriate discount rate.

(c)	 Estimated Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

	 The Group regularly reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such 
as business plan and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. Future results 
of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors 
mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment would increase the 
recorded depreciation and decrease the value of property, plant and equipment.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)

(d)	 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

	 The Group assesses impairment of assets whenever the events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, i.e. the carrying amount of the asset is more than the recoverable 
amount.

	 Where there are signs of impairment in the value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, a review of 
recoverable amounts is performed. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations use cash flow projections based on a financial forecast, approved by the management covering 
a period of five years. The terminal value is calculated based on the projected residual value of the CGUs at the end 
of the fifth year. 

	 The key assumptions for value-in-use include the management’s expectation of revenue growth and operating costs, 
drawing from past experience and current assessment of the market and industry growth as well as the maximum 
capacity available. 

(e)	 Write Down of Inventories

	 The Group writes down inventories based on an assessment of the recoverability of the inventories through sales 
and recycling for alternative uses. Write downs are applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the costs may not be recoverable.

	 The identification of inventories to be written down requires use of judgement and estimates.

	 Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the 
inventories and inventory write down expenses in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(f)	 Recoverability of Receivables

	 The Group makes allowance for doubtful receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and 
other receivables. An allowance is established for trade or other receivable when there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of transactions. The identification 
of doubtful receivables requires use of judgement and estimates with reference to the ageing profile and collection 
patterns. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying 
value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful receivables expenses in the period in which such estimate has 
been changed.

(g)	 Income Taxes

	 The Group is subject to income taxes of numerous jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining the capital 
allowances and deductibility of certain expenses during the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(h)	 Deferred Tax Assets

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. This involves judgement regarding the future financial 
performance of the particular entity in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)

(i)	 Deferred Tax on Investment Properties

	 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from investment properties 
that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolio 
and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not being held under a business model whose objective 
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather 
than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Groups’ deferred tax on investment properties, the directors have 
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of the investment properties measured using the fair 
value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred 
taxes on changes in fair value investment properties based on the expected rate that would apply on disposal of the 
investment properties.

5.	 REVENUE

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Sale of goods 656,402 697,916 - -

Tourism related services 1,888 1,859 - -

Dividend income:

	 Subsidiary companies - - 5,280 3,640

	 Associated company - - 1,690 1,268

- - 6,970 4,908

658,290 699,775 6,970 4,908

6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING

	 Information reported to the chief operating decision maker and senior management of the Group for the purpose of 
resources allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the business operations of the Group.

	 The Group is organised into the following operating divisions:
-	 manufacturing (includes cooking oils, margarine, shortening, corrugated paper cartons, crude palm oil, kernel and 

general line tin cans)
-	 trading (includes edible oils, kernel and other consumer products)
-	 plantation (includes tea and palm oil)
-	 others (includes tourism related services and investment holding)

	 Inter-segment sales are charged at cost plus a percentage of profit mark-up.
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6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

The Group
2013

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations 
RM’000

Consolidated 
RM’000

Revenue

External sales 226,778 429,538 85 1,889 - 658,290

Inter-segment sales 241,667 192 5,111 7,312 (254,282) -

Total revenue 468,445 429,730 5,196 9,201 (254,282) 658,290

Results

Segment results 27,671 12,417 (294) 7,229 (6,566) 40,457

Finance costs (5,231)

Share of profit of an 
associated company 6,238

Investment revenue 1,274

Profit before tax 42,738

Income tax expense (9,193)

Profit for the year 33,545
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6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

The Group
2013

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations 
RM’000

Consolidated 
RM’000

Other information

Capital additions 12,808 6,841 1,300 580 - 21,529

Depreciation and 
amortisation charges 7,159 2,413 655 370 - 10,597

Impairment losses 
recognised on 
receivables 72 299 - - - 371

Reversal of impairment 
losses recognised on 
receivables 97 93 - - - 190

Consolidated 
Statement of 
Financial Position

Assets

Segment assets 331,076 197,554 49,303 364,495 (437,947) 504,481

Investment in an 
associated company 54,967

Unallocated corporate 
assets 1,738

Consolidated total 
assets 561,186

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 59,097 112,155 17,507 27,158 (103,623) 112,294

Unallocated corporate 
liabilities 124,963

Consolidated total 
liabilities 237,257
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6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

The Group
2012

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations 
RM’000

Consolidated 
RM’000

Revenue

External sales 230,983 466,748 185 1,859 - 699,775

Inter-segment sales 241,259 76 5,713 4,925 (251,973) -

Total revenue 472,242 466,824 5,898 6,784 (251,973) 699,775

Results

Segment results 22,843 7,298 194 5,532 (4,825) 31,042

Finance costs (6,636)

Share of profit of an 
associated company 4,347

Investment revenue 637

Profit before tax 29,390

Income tax expense (7,363)

Profit for the year 22,027
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6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

The Group
2012

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations 
RM’000

Consolidated 
RM’000

Other information

Capital additions 10,611 3,113 1,471 238 (64) 15,369

Depreciation and 
amortisation charges 6,905 2,440 614 335 - 10,294

Impairment losses 
recognised on 
receivables 215 165 - - - 380

Reversal of impairment 
losses recognised on 
receivables 133 844 - - - 977

Consolidated 
Statement of 
Financial Position

Assets

Segment assets 313,339 196,683 49,115 305,999 (379,250) 485,886

Investment in an 
associated company 49,584

Unallocated corporate 
assets 6,290

Consolidated total 
assets 541,760

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 47,615 111,457 16,723 27,575 (95,003) 108,367

Unallocated corporate 
liabilities 144,378

Consolidated total 
liabilities 252,745
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6.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

	 Geographical segments

	 The analysis of the carrying amounts of segment assets by geographical segment has not been provided as the segment 
assets of the Group located outside Malaysia is less than 10% of its total segment assets.

	 The capital additions of the Group by geographical segment is as follows:

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Malaysia 19,670 10,890

Vietnam 1,859 4,480

21,529 15,370

	 The analysis of the segment revenue of the Group from external customers by geographical area based on the 
geographical location of its customers has not been provided as the export sales of the Group is less than 10% of its total 
revenue.

7.	 INVESTMENT REVENUE

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Interest income from fixed and short-term deposits 947 267

Interest received on advances granted to ultimate holding company 140 255

Rental income from investment properties 186 114

Dividend income from quoted shares 1 1

1,274 637

	 The following is an analysis of investment revenue by category of assets:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Investment revenue for financial assets not designated as at fair value  
through profit or loss 1,087 522

Dividend income earned as available-for-sale financial assets 1 1

Investment revenue earned as non-financial assets 186 114

1,274 637
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8.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, TRADING MERCHANDISE 
AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS, OTHER EXPENSES, RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES USED AND EMPLOYEE 
BENEFITS EXPENSE

	 Included in other gains and losses and other expenses are the following:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Changes in fair value of investment 
properties 1,918 - - -

Unrealised gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 244 (109) - -

Reversal of impairment losses recognised on 
receivables 190 977 - -

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment - net 89 42 - -

Bad debts recovered 13 5 - -

Rental income:

Premises 12 43 - -

Motor vehicles 8 15 - -

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 
classified as held for sale - 390 - -

Directors’ remuneration:

Directors of the Company:

Fees (218) (189) (138) (122)

Other emoluments (2,254) (1,889) (42) (43)

Directors of the subsidiary companies:

Fees (72) (65) - -

Other emoluments (2,288) (1,650) - -

Rental expense:

Premises (2,167) (2,348) - -

Factory equipment (96) - - -

Inventories written off (1,391) (2,027) - -

Realised loss on foreign exchange - net (658) (212) - -

Hire of machinery (439) (317) - -

Auditors’ remuneration:

Statutory audit:

Current year (342) (340) (65) (65)

Prior year (5) (9) - (6)

Non-audit services (23) - - -

Property, plant and equipment written off (344) (202) - -

Impairment losses recognised on receivables (371) (380) - -

Bad debts written off (262) (189) - -

Research and development expenses (18) (20) - -

Lease rental (13) (6) - -

Preliminary expenses written off - (2) - -
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8.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, TRADING MERCHANDISE 
AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS, OTHER EXPENSES, RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES USED AND EMPLOYEE 
BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 Included in raw materials and consumables used are subsidies received and receivable from the Government by a 
subsidiary company under the Cooking Oil Price Stabilization Scheme amounting to RM29,839,878 (2012: RM45,094,012).

	 Included in other expenses are subsidies received and receivable from the Government under the Cooking Oil Price 
Standardization Scheme amounted to RM1,449,357 (2012: Nil).

	 Included in employee benefits expense and directors’ remuneration are the following:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Contributions to EPF:

Employee benefits expense 4,373 4,357 - -

Directors’ remuneration 367 311 - -

Rental of hostel:

Employee benefits expense 188 160 - -

Equity-settled share-based payments:

Employee benefits expense 894 508 - -

Directors’ remuneration 420 231 61 36

9.	 FINANCE COSTS

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Interest on:

Bankers’ acceptances 2,711 3,806 - -

Revolving credits 665 675 41 43

Term loans 647 743 - -

Bank overdrafts 458 644 11 16

Hire-purchase 171 188 - -

Trust receipts 1 4 - -

Bank charges and commitment fees 590 594 9 8

5,243 6,654 61 67

Less: Hire-purchase interest capitalised 
under plantation development expenditure 
(Note 12) (12) (18) - -

5,231 6,636 61 67
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Income tax:

Current year:

Malaysian 8,104 6,290 229 126

Foreign 717 539 - -

8,821 6,829 229 126

Prior year:

Malaysian 191 142 58 (11)

Foreign (953) 924 - -

(762) 1,066 58 (11)

8,059 7,895 287 115

Deferred tax (Note 28):

Relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 1,485 255 - -

Relating to reversal of deferred tax liability 
on revaluation surplus of land upon 
disposal - (426) - -

Relating to crystallisation of deferred tax 
liability on revaluation surplus of land 
and buildings and investment properties (442) (287) - -

Prior years 91 (74) - -

1,134 (532) - -

9,193 7,363 287 115

	 The Group’s and the Company’s income tax rate remained at 25% for the year of assessment 2013 except for its foreign 
subsidiary company.

	 The Malaysian Budget 2014 announced on October 25, 2013 the reduction of corporate income tax rate from 25% to 
24% with effect from year of assessment 2016. The Real Property Gains Tax (“RPGT”) is also revised to 30% for disposal 
within the first three years, 20% within the fourth year, 15% within the fifth year and 5% from sixth year onwards, on 
gains from the disposal of real property effective January 1, 2014. Following these, the applicable tax rate to be used for 
the measurement of any applicable deferred tax will be the abovementioned expected rate.
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 The total income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Profit before tax 42,738 29,390 6,432 4,306

Tax at the applicable statutory income tax 
rate of 25% (2012: 25%) 10,684 7,348 1,608 1,077

Tax effects of:

Expenses that are not deductible in 
determining taxable profit 1,628 1,067 127 76

Unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed 
agricultural, tax capital allowances and 
others not recognised as deferred tax 
assets 215 277 - -

Loss not available for offset against future 
taxable profit 5 3 - -

Share of profit of an associated company (1,559) (1,087) - -

Income that is not taxable in determining 
taxable profit (481) (38) (1,506) (1,027)

Utilisation of capital allowances previously 
not recognised as deferred tax assets (346) (46) - -

Utilisation of reinvestment allowances (167) (140) - -

Expenses eligible for double deduction (31) (24) - -

Temporary differences arising from 
property, plant and equipment - (174) - -

Others - (147) - -

Effect of difference in tax rate of a subsidiary 
operating in other jurisdictions (84) (668) - -

Prior years:

	 Income tax (762) 1,066 58 (11)

	 Deferred tax 91 (74) - -

Income tax expense recognised in 
statements of profit or loss 9,193 7,363 287 115
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10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 As of December 31, 2013, the Company has tax-exempt accounts balances of approximately RM36,118,722 (2012: 
RM33,352,351). The tax-exempt accounts arose from claims for abatement of statutory income for exports under Section 
37(1) of the Promotion of Investment Act, 1986, reinvestment allowances claimed and utilised under Schedule 7A of the 
Income Tax Act, 1967 and chargeable income waived in 1999 in accordance with the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999. 
The tax-exempt accountsare available for distribution as tax-exempt dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

	 As of December 31, 2013, certain subsidiary companies have tax-exempt accounts balances of approximately 
RM14,637,183(2012: RM15,195,583). The tax-exempt accounts arose from abatement of statutory income for exports 
under Section 37(1) of the Promotion of Investment Act, 1986, reinvestment allowances claimed and utilised under 
Schedule 7A of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and chargeable income waived in 1999 in accordance with the Income 
Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999. The tax-exempt accounts are available for distribution as tax-exempt dividends to the 
shareholder of the subsidiary companies.

	 Current tax assets and liabilities

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Current tax assets

Tax refund receivable 1,315 3,450

Current tax liabilities 

Income tax payable 568 2,307

The Company
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Current tax assets

Tax refund receivable 393 442
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11.	 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

	 The basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

Basic

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000) 33,545 22,027

Number of ordinary shares in issue as of January 1 (’000) 175,586 175,572

Effect of exercise of ESOS (’000) 1,333 2

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 176,919 175,574

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen) 18.96 12.55

Diluted 

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000) 33,545 22,027

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 176,919 175,574

Effect of exercise of ESOS (’000) 361 295

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating  
fully diluted earnings per ordinary share (’000) 177,280 175,869

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen) 18.92 12.52
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Carrying amounts

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Freehold land:

At valuation 39,634 39,634

At cost 69 69

Long-term leasehold land and improvements:

At valuation 46,067 46,779

Short-term leasehold land and improvements:

At valuation 12,051 12,622

At cost 4,250 4,111

Buildings:

At valuation 48,713 49,458

At cost 17,298 13,211

Electricity and water supply system 857 315

Plant and machinery 45,780 43,680

Plant and machinery under hire-purchase 3,251 3,299

Motor vehicles 4,331 3,780

Motor vehicles under hire-purchase 3,760 2,739

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 7,494 8,211

Plantation development expenditure 8,484 7,874

Renovations 1,300 1,071

Capital work-in-progress 2,341 68

Total 245,680 236,921

	 Included in plantation development expenditure are the following current year’s expenditure:

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 216 226

Interest on hire-purchase (Note 9) 12 18
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 During the financial year, depreciation expense is charged to the following:

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Statements of profit or loss  10,294

Plantation development expenditure 216 226

10,813 10,520

	 The freehold land, leasehold land and improvements and buildings of the subsidiary companies were revalued by the 
directors on December 31, 2009 based on valuations carried out by independent valuers, by reference to market evidence 
of recent transactions for similar properties.

	 Details of the Group’s and of the Company’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Fair Value

The Group
Level 1

RM’000
Level 2

RM’000
Level 3

RM’000

Freehold land - 39,634 -

Long-term leasehold land - 48,914 -

Short-term leasehold land - 13,520 -

Buildings - 53,027 -

- 155,095 -

	 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.

	 The carrying amounts of the revalued assets that would have been included in the financial statements had the assets 
been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation have not been disclosed due to the absence of historical records.
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13.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group
2013

At
beginning

of year
RM’000

Additions
RM’000

Disposals
RM’000

Transfer
from/(to) 
property,
plant and

equipment
RM’000

Change in
fair value

RM’000

At end
of year

RM’000

At fair value:

Freehold land 1,300 - - - 260 1,560

Long-term leasehold land 781 - - - - 781

Short-term leasehold land 1,088 - - 200 837 2,125

Buildings 1,291 - - 262 821 2,374

As of December 31, 2013 4,460 - - 462 1,918 6,840

The Group

2012

At fair value:

Freehold land 6,294 - - (4,994) - 1,300

Long-term leasehold land 781 - - - - 781

Short-term leasehold land 1,088 - - - - 1,088

Buildings 1,291 - - - - 1,291

As of December 31, 2012 9,454 - - (4,994) - 4,460

	 The investment properties of the subsidiary companies were revalued by the directors on December 31, 2013 based 
on valuations carried out by independent valuers by reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar 
properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. 
There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

	 As of December 31, 2013, there were no contractual obligations of the Group for future repairs and maintenance  
(2012: Nil).

	 During the financial year ended December 31, 2013, direct operating expenses incurred relating to the investment 
properties of the Group amounted to RM17,794 (2012: RM21,297). 

	 Details of the Group’s and of the Company’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Fair Value

The Group
Level 1

RM’000
Level 2

RM’000
Level 3

RM’000

Investment properties - 6,840 -

	 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.
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14.	 NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

At valuation

At beginning of year - 3,567

Disposals - (3,567)

At end of year - -

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year - (1,007)

Disposals - 1,007

At end of year - -

Carrying amount - -

15.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The Company
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Unquoted shares - available-for-sale: 

At beginning of year 249,345 217,154

Additions 1,254 703

Fair value adjustment 26,822 31,488

At end of year 277,421 249,345
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15.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

	 During the financial year, the additions relate to net share options granted to the directors and executive employees of 
the subsidiary companies.

	 The fair values of the investments in subsidiary companies are determined using valuation technique as there is 
currently no active market for the equity shares of the subsidiary companies, all of which are not listed. Management has 
adopted the Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique by forecasting free cash flow to equity and discounting these 
cash flows back to the present at an appropriate required rate of return. The assumptions to the discounted cash flow 
analysis incorporate observable business conditions and other factors that are likely to affect the subsidiary companies 
as follows:

•	 Receivables, payables and inventories turnover period is estimated to be consistent with the current financial year.
•	 There will be no material changes in prevailing economic and political climate and government policies and 

regulations that would significantly affect the operations of the respective companies.
•	 The five years cash flow projections extrapolate the results using steady growth rates ranging from -0.5% to 2.0% 

per annum for Malaysian companies and 6.00% per annum for Vietnam company while terminal growth rates in 
Malaysia ranged from 0% to 2.5% and Vietnam of 5.0%.

•	 The following discount rates applied have incorporated elements of country-specific risk, time value of money as 
well as business risk:
>	 12.41% - 13.83% for companies which manufacture palm based products;
>	 20.32% for company that manufactures paper cartons;
>	 23.89% and 33.12% for companies that manufacture tin cans in Malaysia and Vietnam respectively;
>	 10.60% - 15.94% for trading companies; and
>	 10.73% - 22.17% for other companies.

	 The subsidiary companies are as follows:

Effective Equity 
Interest

Name of Company
Place of 
Incorporation

2013
%

2012
% Principal Activities

Direct Subsidiary Companies 

Yee Lee Trading Co. Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Marketing and distribution of edible oils 
and other consumer products.

Yee Lee Palm Oil Industries  
Sdn. Bhd.*

Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Milling and selling of crude palm oil 
and kernel.

Yee Lee Edible Oils Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Manufacturing of cooking oil, margarine 
and shortening and trading of consumer 
products.

South East Asia Paper Products  
Sdn. Bhd.*

Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Manufacturing and selling of corrugated 
paper cartons.

Canpac Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Manufacturing and trading of general 
line tin cans.

Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Investment holding.

Yee Lee Marketing Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Marketing and distribution of consumer 
products.
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15.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

Effective Equity 
Interest

Name of Company
Place of 
Incorporation

2013
%

2012
% Principal Activities

Indirect Subsidiary Companies

Held through Yee Lee Trading Co. Sdn. Bhd.

Mini Motors Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Investment holding.

Held through Yee Lee Palm Oil Industries Sdn. Bhd.

Sementra Plantations Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Oil palm cultivation.

Palker Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Ceased its business activity since 
December 31, 2010.

Held through Canpac Sdn. Bhd.

Good Cans Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Pre-operating.

Canpac Vietnam Pte., Ltd.# Vietnam 100.00 100.00 Manufacturing and trading of general 
line tin cans.

Held through Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd.

Desa Tea Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Planting, processing and distribution 
of tea.

Sabah Tea Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Ceased tourism related services 
activities in 2013.

Sabah Tea Resort Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100.00 100.00 Tourism related services.

*	 The financial statements of these companies are examined by auditors other than the auditors of the Company.
#	 The financial statements of this company are examined by a member firm of the auditors of the Company.

	 In 2012, Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd. incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary company, Sabah Tea Resort Sdn. Bhd. with an 
issued and fully paid-up share capital of RM2.00 comprising 2 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each.
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16.	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Quoted shares, at cost 29,965 29,471

Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividends received 21,421 16,874

Share of post-acquisition reserves 3,581 3,239

25,002 20,113

54,967 49,584

Market value of:

Quoted shares 75,278 43,945

Quoted Warrants 7,078 2,324

The Company
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Quoted shares, at cost 29,965 29,471

Market value of:

Quoted shares 75,278 43,945

Quoted Warrants 7,078 2,324

	 The interest in the associated company of the Group is analysed as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Share of net assets 56,015 50,632

Reserve on acquisition (1,048) (1,048)

54,967 49,584
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16.	 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY (CONT’D)

Effective Equity 
Interest

Name of Company
Place of 
Incorporation

2013
%

2012
% Principal Activities

Financial
Year End

Spritzer Bhd. Malaysia 32.05 32.26 Investment holding. May 31

	 The reporting date of Spritzer Bhd. is May 31. This was the reporting date established when that company was 
incorporated and management considers that it is unnecessary to change the reporting date. For the purpose of applying 
equity method of accounting, the audited consolidated financial statements of Spritzer Bhd. for the year ended May 31, 
2013 have been used, and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of significant transactions between 
that date and December 31, 2013.

	 Summarised financial information in respect of the associated company of the Group is set out below:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Total assets 294,421 278,368

Total liabilities (121,611) (121,839)

Net assets 172,810 156,529

Group’s share of associate’s net assets 56,015 50,632

Total revenue 223,717 185,289

Total profit for the year 19,335 13,439

Group’s share of associate’s profit for the year 6,238 4,347

	 In 2011, Spritzer Bhd. (“SB”) issued 10,564,185 free Warrants to the Company pursuant to SB’s Bonus Issue of Warrants. 
Each Warrant carries the entitlement to subscribe for one (1) new Spritzer share at the exercise price of RM1.18 per share 
at any time during the exercise period of 5 years expiring on December 13, 2016. Any Warrants not exercised during the 
exercise period will thereafter lapse and cease to be valid for any purpose.
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17.	 OTHER INVESTMENTS

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value:

Quoted shares in Malaysia:

At beginning of year 12 11

Fair value adjustment 1 1

At end of year 13 12

	 The market value of quoted shares as of the reporting period approximate its fair value.

18.	 GOODWILL ON CONSILIDATION

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

At beginning of year and at end of year 1,612 1,612

	 Impairment tests for cash-generating units (“CGU”) containing goodwill

	 Carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the following CGU:

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Canpac Sdn. Bhd. (manufacturing operations) 1,612 1,612

	 The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow 
projections based on a financial forecast, approved by management, covering a period of five years from financial year 
2014 to 2018. The following key assumptions are used to generate the financial forecast:

	 Growth rate:
Year 2014 and 2015	 0.0% per annum
Year 2016, 2017 and 2018	 -0.5% per annum

	 Discount rate	 23.89% per annum

	 Receivables and payables turnover period is estimated to be consistent with the current financial year.

	 The above key assumptions were determined based on business past performance and management’s expectations of 
market development.
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19.	 INVENTORIES

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

At cost/net realisable value:

Finished goods and trading merchandise 39,709 41,111

Raw materials 20,925 14,792

Work-in-progress 5,950 4,404

Factory supplies and consumables 3,298 2,799

Goods-in-transit 2,416 1,054

Fertilisers 57 54

72,355 64,214

	 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year for the Group was RM535,733,887 (2012: RM579,389,394).

	 Inventories written off recognised as an expense for the Group during the financial year amounted to RM1,390,588 
(2012: RM2,026,813).

	 Inventories written down by the Group during the year amounted to RM804,538 (2012: RM562,528) and inventories 
written back by the Group during the year amounted to RM602,586 (2012: RM1,486,072).

20. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Trade receivables 109,513 113,296 - -

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (687) (614) - -

108,826 112,682 - -

Amount owing by ultimate holding  
company (Note 21) 400 2,819 - -

Amount owing by subsidiary  
companies (Note 21) - - 16,755 15,073

Amount owing by other related  
companies (Note 21) 9,809 14,081 - -

Amount owing by other related  
parties (Note 21) 5,294 3,681 - -

Other receivables 12,308 9,177 - -

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (30) - - -

12,278 9,177 - -

Net 136,607 142,440 16,755 15,073
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20. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

	 Trade receivables of the Group comprise amounts receivable for the sale of goods and for tourism related services rendered. 

	 The credit periods granted on sale of goods ranged from cash to 120 days (2012: 2 to 120 days) whilst tourism related 
services rendered ranged from 30 to 90 days (2012: 30 to 90 days). No interest is charged on overdue outstanding 
balance of trade receivables. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods 
and other receivables of the Group amounting to RM687,396 (2012: RM613,547) and RM29,670 (2012: Nil) respectively 
and have been determined by reference to past default experience.

	 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

Trade receivables Other receivables

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Balance at beginning of year 614 1,406 - -

Amounts written off during the  
year as uncollectible (78) (195) - -

Impairment losses recognised  
on receivables 341 380 30 -

Impairment losses reversed (190) (977) - -

687 614 30 -

	 Ageing of impaired trade and other receivables are as follows:

Trade receivables Other receivables

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Number of days past due:

61 - 90 days - 23 - -

Above 90 days 687 591 30 -

687 614 30 -

	 Ageing of trade receivables and trade account owing by other related companies and other related parties which are 
past due but not impaired as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Trade receivables

Amount owing by other 
related companies and 

other related parties

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Number of days past due:

1 - 30 days 14,825 33,044 544 753

31 - 60 days 4,636 10,218 488 166

61 - 90 days 2,373 5,047 146 150

91 - 120 days 1,616 841 189 214

More than 120 days 531 996 8,598 12,579

23,981 50,146 9,965 13,862
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20. 	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

	 The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances which are past due nor does it have a legal right to offset 
against any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.

	 The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables and has a credit period policy to minimise 
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group has not provided for impairment loss 
on these trade receivable accounts that are past due as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
amounts are still considered recoverable. 

	 Other receivables of the Group comprise mainly subsidy receivable from the Government by a subsidiary company under 
the Cooking Oil Price Stabilization and Standardization Scheme, claims receivable from suppliers for promotion expenses 
incurred on agency products and advance payments to suppliers for trade purchases.

	 Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 21.

	 Analysis of currency profile of trade and other receivables is as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia 125,860 126,652 16,755 15,073

Vietnamese Dong 7,489 6,157 - -

Australian Dollar 2,777 3,831 - -

United States Dollar 989 6,274 - -

Singapore Dollar 209 140 - -

137,324 143,054 16,755 15,073

21.	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 The Company is a subsidiary of Yee Lee Organization Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia, which is also the ultimate 
holding company.

	 Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the related parties and their relationship with the Company 
and its subsidiary companies are as follows:

Names of related companies Relationships

Yew Lee Chiong Tin Factory Sdn. Bhd. )

Kasjaria-Kim Huat (M) Sdn. Bhd. ) Subsidiaries of Yee Lee Organization Bhd.

Practical Advanced Technology Sdn. Bhd. )

Cranberry (M) Sdn. Bhd. )

Yee Lee Oils & Foodstuffs (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. )

Multisafe Sdn. Bhd. )

Sri Puteh Development Sdn. Bhd. )
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21.	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

	 Related party transactions

	 Transactions with related companies are as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Ultimate holding company

Interest on advances received 140 255 - -

Sale of goods 1 1 - -

Subsidiary companies

Dividends received (gross) - - 5,280 3,640

Purchase of goods - - 6 5

Associated company

Sale of goods 1 2 - -

Dividends received (gross) - - 1,690 1,268

Other related companies

Yew Lee Chiong Tin Factory Sdn. Bhd.

Purchase of goods 150 123 - -

Sale of goods 6 98 - -

Transportation fees received 1 - - -

Professional fees received/receivable - 9 - -

Kasjaria-Kim Huat (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Rental received 12 12 - -

Practical Advanced Technology Sdn. Bhd.

Maintenance of networking, system, 
training and management services 
rendered 1,262 1,128 - -

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 32 - - -

Rental on premises received - 3 - -
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21.	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

	

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Cranberry (M) Sdn. Bhd.

Rental on premises received 12 12 - -

Purchase of goods 12 - - -

Sale of goods 1 1 - -

Yee Lee Oils & Foodstuffs (Singapore)  
Pte. Ltd.

Sale of goods 37 39 - -

Multisafe Sdn. Bhd.

Sale of goods 815 804 - -

Sale of steam 330 244 - -

Transportation fees received/receivable - 3 - -

Sri Puteh Development Sdn. Bhd.

Sale of goods 1 1 - -

Transactions with other related parties 
being companies in which persons 
connected with certain directors have 
substantial interests are as follows:

Unikampar Credit And Leasing Sdn. Bhd.

Hire-purchase loans obtained 1,896 1,649 - -

Interest on hire-purchase loans paid 168 186 - -

Multibase Systems Sdn. Bhd.

Secretarial fees paid/payable 38 40 8 8

Sale of goods 1 1 - -
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21.	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Uniyelee Insurance Agencies Sdn. Bhd.

Insurance premium paid/payable 1,303 1,378 3 2

Chuan Sin Cactus Sdn. Bhd.

Purchase of goods 56 56 - -

Rental received 2 - - -

Chuan Sin Sdn. Bhd.

Purchase of goods 120,824 99,534 - -

Sale of goods 4,616 5,675 - -

Transportation fees received 20 - - -

Professional fees received/receivable 13 8 - -

Golden PET Industries Sdn. Bhd.

Purchase of goods 11,703 11,982 - -

Sale of goods 347 401 - -

Transportation fees received 199 173 - -

Professional fees received/receivable 8 6 - -

Rental on premises paid/payable 6 72 - -

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 - - -

Angenet Sdn. Bhd.

Purchase of goods 5,063 4,339 - -

Professional fees received/receivable 2 1 - -

PET Master Sdn. Bhd.

Sale of goods - 6 - -

Transport Master Sdn. Bhd.

Contract wages paid/payable 1,518 998 - -

Sale of goods 11 6 - -

Intan Serantau Sdn. Bhd.

Contract wages paid/payable - 355 - -

Sale of goods - 5 - -
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21.	 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Cactus Marketing Sdn. Bhd.

Sale of goods 143 60 - -

Uniyelee Service Agencies Sdn. Bhd.

Insurance premium paid/payable 847 695 - -

Sabah Tea Garden Sdn. Bhd.

Sale of goods 30 - - -

Transactions with certain directors of the 
Group are as follows:

Mr. Lim Kim Kow

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 60 - - -

Mr. Wong Hung

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 60 - - -

	 The outstanding balances arising from related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 20, 27 and 29.

	 The amounts owing by/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and will be settled in cash. 
Certain of the advances granted to related companies bear interest at a rate of 8.00% (2012: 8.00%) per annum. No 
guarantees have been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the year for bad or doubtful debts in respect 
of the amounts owing by related parties.

	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel of the Group includes 
members of senior management of the Group.

	 The remuneration of directors are disclosed in Note 8. The remuneration of other members of key management personnel 
of the Group during the year are as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,594 1,256

Past-employment benefits - Defined contribution plan 126 131

Equity-settled share-based payments 178 70

1,898 1,457

	 The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received and receivable by the members of key management personnel 
otherwise than in cash from the Group amounted to RM51,792 (2012: RM40,500).
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22.	 OTHER ASSETS

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Deposits 3,150 1,667 2 2

Prepaid expenses 2,636 1,374 - 2

5,786 3,041 2 4

23.	 DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Deposits with licensed banks 9,556 14,404 - -

Cash on hand and at banks 26,456 21,622 22 25

36,012 36,026 22 25

	 Fixed deposits amounting to RM10,000 (2012: RM10,000) have been pledged to a licensed bank as security for bank 
guarantees granted to a subsidiary company.

	 The effective interest rate for deposits ranged from 2.73% to 7.00% (2012: 2.50% to 9.00%) per annum. The deposits 
have maturity periods ranging from 5 days to 365 days (2012: 5 days to 365 days).

	 Analysis of currency profile of deposits, cash and bank balances are as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia 21,244 27,649 22 25

Australia Dollar 10,196 3,633 - -

Vietnamese Dong 3,889 3,365 - -

United States Dollar 681 1,377 - -

Singapore Dollar 1 1 - -

Euro 1 1 - -

36,012 36,026 22 25
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24.	 SHARE CAPITAL

The Group and The Company

Par
value

RM

2013
Number of

ordinary shares
’000

2012
Number of

ordinary shares
’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Authorised:

At beginning and end of year 0.50 200,000 200,000 100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of year 0.50 175,586 175,572 87,793 87,786

Issuance of shares - exercise of 
ESOS 0.50 2,778 15 1,389 7

At end of year 0.50 178,364 175,587 89,182 87,793

	 The Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital during the financial year by the issuance of 2,777,500 
new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each pursuant to the exercise of Executives’ Share Option Scheme of the Company.

	 The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company.

25.	 RESERVES

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Non-distributable reserves:

Share premium 790 4 790 4

Property revaluation reserve 53,578 53,529 - -

 Investment revaluation reserve (7) (8) 194,662 167,840

Translation reserve (763) (1,804) - -

Capital reserves 1,704 1,362 - -

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 1,515 736 1,515 736

56,817 53,819 196,967 168,580

Distributable reserve:

Retained earnings 177,930 147,403 28,950 25,823

234,747 201,222 225,917 194,403
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25.	 RESERVES (CONT’D)

(a)	 Share premium

	 Share premium arose from the following:

The Group and
The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Exercise of share options of shares issued at a premium of:

- 2,760,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at RM0.28 per  
ordinary share 777 4

- 17,500 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at RM0.76 per  
ordinary share 13 -

790 4

(b)	 Property revaluation reserve

	 The property revaluation reserve of the Group arises from the revaluation of land and buildings. When revalued land 
and buildings are sold, the portion of the property revaluation reserve that relates to the disposed asset is effectively 
realised, and is transferred directly to retained earnings.

(c)	 Investment revaluation reserve

	 The investment revaluation reserve of the Group and of the Company arise from changes in fair values of investments. 
When investments are disposed of, the portion of the reserve that relates to the disposed investments is effectively 
realised, and is transferred directly to statements of profit or loss.

(d)	 Translation reserve

	 Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary of the Group 
into Ringgit Malaysia are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(e)	 Capital reserves

	 Capital reserves relate to the share of reserves of the associated company.

(f)	 Equity-settled employee benefits reserve

	 The equity-settled employee benefits reserve relates to share options granted to the directors and executive 
employees of the Group and of the Company under the Executives’ Share Option Scheme as disclosed in Note 32.

(g)	 Retained earnings

	 The Company had not previously made an irrevocable option to disregard the Section 108 tax credit under the Finance 
Act 2007. Accordingly, the Company will move to a single tier tax system upon expiry of the transitional period on 
December 31, 2013. Any remaining balance in the Section 108 tax credit will be disregarded.
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26.	 BORROWINGS

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Unsecured:

Bankers’ acceptances 71,314 81,395 - -

Revolving credits 16,000 16,000 1,000 1,000

Term loans 8,527 11,844 - -

Bank overdrafts 4,280 9,631 - -

Trust receipts - 436 - -

Secured:

Hire-purchase payables (Note 27) 2,869 2,444 - -

102,990 121,750 1,000 1,000

Less: Amount due within 12 months 
(shown under current liabilities)

(95,863) (111,879) (1,000) (1,000)

Non-current portion 7,127 9,871 - -

	 The non-current portion is repayable as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Financial years ending December 31:

2014 - 3,771

2015 3,328 2,739

2016 2,243 1,793

2017 1,535 1,568

2018 and above 21 -

7,127 9,871



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 | Yee Lee Corporation Bhd 107

notes to the financial statements

26.	 BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

	 The Group has nine (9) term loans:

(a)	 A ten (10) year term loan of RM2,100,000 (2012: RM2,100,000) which is repayable by 120 equal monthly instalments 
commencing December, 2007; 

(b)	 A five (5) year term loan of RM1,200,000 (2012: RM1,200,000) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments 
commencing September, 2008. The term loan has been fully settled during the year;

(c)	 A five (5) year term loan of RM1,500,000 (2012: RM1,500,000) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments 
commencing May, 2009;

(d)	 A ten (10) year term loan of RM4,887,500 (2012: RM4,887,500) which is repayable by 120 equal monthly instalments 
commencing March, 2010;

(e)	 A seven (7) year term loan of RM4,000,000 (2012: RM4,000,000) which is repayable by 84 equal monthly instalments 
commencing May, 2010; 

(f)	 A seven (7) year term loan of RM6,000,000 (2012: RM6,000,000) which is repayable by 84 equal monthly instalments 
commencing November, 2010; 

(g)	 A five (5) year term loan of RM1,000,000 (2012: RM1,000,000) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments 
commencing November, 2010; 

(h)	 A five (5) year term loan of RM993,000 (2012: RM993,000) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments 
commencing July, 2012; and

(i)	 A seven (7) year term loan of RM6,200,000 (2012: Nil) which is repayable by 84 equal monthly instalments after first 
drawdown. As of December 31, 2013, this term loan has yet to be drawn down.

	 The average effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
%

2012
%

2013
%

2012
%

Bankers’ acceptances 3.44 3.37 - -

Revolving credits 4.24 4.34 4.10 4.25

Term loans 5.45 6.29 - -

Bank overdrafts 7.62 7.62 7.60 7.60

Trust receipts 6.85 6.85 - -

	 The credit facilities of the Group and of the Company of RM315,537,000 and RM2,000,000 (2012: RM349,354,000 and 
RM2,000,000) respectively are guaranteed by the Company.
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27.	 HIRE-PURCHASE PAYABLES 

Minimum hire-purchase 
payments

Present value of 
minimum hire-purchase 

payments

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Amounts payable under hire-purchase 
arrangements:

Within one year 1,297 1,287 1,331 1,175

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,853 1,389 1,538 1,269

3,150 2,676 2,869 2,444

Less: Future finance charges (281) (232) - -

Present value of hire-purchase payables 2,869 2,444 2,869 2,444

Less: Amount due within 12 months  
(shown under current liabilities) (1,331) (1,175)

Non-current portion 1,538 1,269

	 The non-current portion is repayable as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Financial years ending December 31:

2014 - 801

2015 962 395

2016 517 73

2017 38 -

2018 21 -

1,538 1,269

	 As of December 31, 2013, hire-purchase obligations of the Group payable to a related party amounted to RM2,721,320 
(2012: RM2,373,216).

	 The terms for hire-purchase ranged from 2 to 5 years (2012: 2 to 5 years). For the financial year ended December 31, 2013, 
the effective hire-purchase interest rates ranged from 4.57% to 9.38% (2012: 3.51% to 8.77%) per annum. Interest rates are 
fixed at the inception of the hire-purchase arrangements.

	 The Group’s hire-purchase payables are secured by the assets under hire-purchase and guaranteed by the Company.
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28.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The Group

At beginning
of year

RM’000

Recognised in
statements of

profit or loss
RM’000

Recognised
in property
revaluation

reserve
RM’000

At end of year
RM’000

2013

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (8,992) (974) - (9,966)

Property revaluation reserve (12,146) 399 49 (11,698)

Investment properties (60) 2 - (58)

(21,198) (573) 49 (21,722)

Deferred tax assets 

Inventories 237 50 - 287

Unabsorbed capital allowances and 
unutilised tax losses 563 (563) - -

Allowance for doubtful debts 48 (19) - 29

Unrealised loss on foreign exchange 29 (29) - -

877 (561) - 316

The Group

At beginning
of year

RM’000

Recognised in
statements of

profit or loss
RM’000

At end of year
RM’000

2012

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (8,416) (576) (8,992)

Property revaluation reserve (12,864) 718 (12,146)

Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (26) 26 -

Investment properties (63) 3 (60)

(21,369) 171 (21,198)

Deferred tax assets 

Inventories 446 (209) 237

Unabsorbed capital allowances and unutilised tax losses - 563 563

Allowance for doubtful debts 56 (8) 48

Unrealised loss on foreign exchange - 29 29

Other payables and accrued expenses 14 (14) -

516 361 877
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28.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

	 Deferred tax balances are presented in the statements of financial position after appropriate offsetting as follows:

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Net deferred tax liabilities (21,406) (20,321)

	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

Deferred tax assets not recognised at the reporting period:

Unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed agricultural and tax capital allowances 51,789 42,172

	 As mentioned in Note 3, the effects of unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed agricultural and tax capital allowances which 
would give rise to deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which these unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed agricultural and tax capital allowances can be 
utilised.

29.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Trade payables 37,487 34,708 - -

Amount owing to ultimate holding  
company (Note 21) 64 319 - -

Amount owing to subsidiary  
companies (Note 21) - - 8,248 10,967

Amount owing to other related  
companies (Note 21) 127 191 - -

Amount owing to other related  
parties (Note 21) 43,905 46,160 - -

Other payables 11,996 10,685 12 26

93,579 92,063 8,260 10,993
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29.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONT’D)

	 Analysis of currency profile of trade and other payables is as follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Ringgit Malaysia 91,023 85,062 8,260 10,993

Vietnamese Dong 1,340 833 - -

United States Dollar 1,093 5,707 - -

Singapore Dollar 123 210 - -

Euro - 226 - -

Great Britain Pound - 25 - -

93,579 92,063 8,260 10,993

	 Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs respectively. The credit 
periods granted to the Group for trade purchases ranged from 30 to 120 days (2012: 30 to 120 days). No interest is 
charged on overdue outstanding balances of trade payables.

	 The amounts owing to other payables of the Group and of the Company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

	 Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 21.

30.	 OTHER LIABILITIES

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Deposits received 567 495 - -

Accrued expenses 18,148 15,809 199 171

18,715 16,304 199 171
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31.	 DIVIDEND

The Group and
The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

First and final dividend paid:

	 - 2.0 sen per share, less tax for 2012

	 (2012: 2.5 sen per share, less tax for 2011) 2,665 3,292

	 - 0.5 sen per share, tax-exempt for 2012 (2012: Nil) 889 -

3,554 3,292

	 A first and final dividend of 2.0 sen per share, less tax and 0.5 sen per share, tax-exempt, proposed in respect of ordinary 
shares in the previous financial year and dealt with in the previous directors’ report was paid by the Company during the 
financial year.

	 The directors proposed a first and final dividend of 3.0 sen per share, under the single tier system, in respect of the current 
financial year. This dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the 
Company and has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.

32. 	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

	 Under the Company’s Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), which has been approved at an Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on June 27, 2012, options to subscribe for new ordinary shares (“Yee Lee Shares”) of RM0.50 each in 
the Company were granted to eligible executive employees, Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors (“Eligible 
Executives”) of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are not dormant. The ESOS is administered by the ESOS 
Committee and governed by a set of by-laws.

	 The implementation of the ESOS primarily serves to align the interests of the Eligible Executives to the corporate goals 
of Yee Lee Group. The ESOS will provide the Eligible Executives with an opportunity to have equity participation in the 
Company and help achieve the positive objectives as set out below:

(i)	 To recognise the contribution of the Eligible Executives whose services are valued and considered vital to the 
operations and continued growth of the Group;

(ii)	 To motivate the Eligible Executives towards improved performance through greater productivity and loyalty;

(iii)	 To inculcate a greater sense of belonging and dedication as the Eligible Executives are given the opportunity to 
participate directly in the equity of the Company;

(iv)	 To retain the Eligible Executives, hence ensuring that the loss of key personnel is kept to a minimum level; and

(v)	 To reward the Eligible Executives by allowing them to participate in the Group’s profitability and eventually realise 
any capital gains arising from appreciation in the value of the Company’s shares.
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32. 	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT’D)

	 The Board of Directors is of the view that the Non-Executive Directors play a constructive role in contributing towards 
the growth and performance of the Group. Therefore, in recognition of their contribution to the Group, the ESOS is also 
extended to the Non-Executive Directors to allow them to participate in the equity of the Company as an incentive as 
they discharge important functions in providing strategic direction and guidance for the Group, and their experience, 
services and contributions are valued by the Group.

	 The salient features of the ESOS are as follows:

1.	 Maximum number of Yee Lee Shares available under the ESOS

	 The total number of new Yee Lee Shares, which may be allotted pursuant to the ESOS shall not exceed in aggregate 
10% of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at any point in time during the existence of the ESOS.

2.	 Basis of allotment and maximum allowable allotment

	 The maximum number of new Yee Lee Shares that may be offered to an Eligible Executive shall be determined at 
the discretion of the ESOS Committee after taking into consideration, amongst others and where relevant, the 
performance, contribution, employment grade, seniority and length of service of the Eligible Executive, subject to 
the following:

a.	 The Directors and senior management do not participate in the deliberation or discussion of their own allocation; 

b.	 The allocation to an Eligible Executive, who either singly or collectively, through persons connected to the 
Eligible Executive, holds 20% or more of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company, must not exceed 
10% of the new Yee Lee Shares available under the ESOS; and

c.	 Not more than 55% of the new Yee Lee Shares available under the ESOS shall be allocated in aggregate to the 
Directors and senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are not dormant.

3.	 Eligibility

	 Only executive employees, Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
which are not dormant, who meet the following conditions as at the date of offer are eligible to participate in the ESOS:

a.	 Executive employees

i.	 be at least 18 years of age;
ii.	 confirmed in service in the Company and/or its subsidiaries, which are not dormant;
iii.	 is employed for a continuous period of at least one (1) year in the Company and/or its subsidiaries, which 

are not dormant; and
iv.	 be under such categories of employees that are classified as executives by the Company and complies with 

such criteria that the ESOS Committee may decide at its absolute discretion from time to time.

b.	 Executive Director and Non-Executive Director

	 An Executive Director or Non-Executive Director who has held office for at least one (1) year in the Company and/
or its subsidiaries, which are not dormant, and who is not prohibited or disallowed by the relevant authorities 
from participating in the ESOS.

	 The entitlement of directors of the Company under the ESOS must be approved by shareholders of the Company 
in a general meeting.

	 The selection of any Eligible Executive to participate in the ESOS shall be at the absolute discretion of the ESOS 
Committee and the decision of the ESOS Committee shall be binding and final.

	 Save for the aforesaid eligibility conditions and in accordance with the by-laws, an Eligible Executive is not 
subject to any other conditions and/or performance targets to be eligible for participation in the ESOS.
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32. 	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT’D)

4.	 Duration

	 The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years commencing August 17, 2012 and will expire on August 16, 2017. 

	 Options not exercised upon expiry of the ESOS on August 16, 2017 shall become null and void.

5.	 Basis of determining the Subscription Price

	 Subject to any adjustments made under the by-laws and pursuant to the Listing Requirements, the subscription 
price shall be the higher of:

a.	 The five (5)-day weighted average market price (“WAMP”) of Yee Lee Shares immediately preceding the date 
on which an offer is made by the ESOS Committee in writing (“Date of Offer”), with a discount of not more than 
10% at the ESOS Committee’s discretion; or

b.	 The par value of Yee Lee Shares.

6.	 Amendments and/or modifications

	 Subject to the compliance with the requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and any 
other relevant authorities, the ESOS Committee may, at any time and from time to time, recommend to the Board 
of Directors any additions and amendments to or deletions of the by-laws as it shall in its discretion think fit and the 
Board of Directors shall have the power by resolution to add to, amend or delete all of any of the by-laws upon such 
recommendation provided that no additions or amendments to or deletion of the by-laws shall be made which will:

a.	 Prejudice any rights of the shareholders of the Company without the prior approval of the shareholders of the 
Company in a general meeting; or

b.	 Alter to the advantage of any Eligible Executive in respect of any matters which are required to be contained in 
the by-laws (or any amendments subsequent thereto) by virtue of the Listing Requirements, without the prior 
approval of the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting unless otherwise allowed by the provisions 
of the Listing Requirements.

	 Where any amendments and/or modifications are made to the by-laws, the Company shall submit to Bursa Securities, 
the amendments and/or modifications to the by-laws and a confirmation letter that the amendments and/or 
modifications complies with the provisions of the guidelines on ESOS stipulated under the Listing Requirements no 
later than five (5) Market Days from the effective date of the said amendments and/or modifications.

7.	 Alteration of share capital

	 In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company during the ESOS option period, whether by way 
of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issue, bonus issue, reduction of capital, subdivision or consolidation 
of Yee Lee Shares, or otherwise howsoever arising, corresponding adjustments, if any, shall be made either in the 
number of new Yee Lee Shares comprised in the ESOS option not exercised and/or the subscription price in such 
manner as the ESOS Committee may decide provided that:

a.	 The adjustment other than arising from a bonus issue must be confirmed in writing by the external auditors 
for the time being of the Company to be in their opinion (acting as experts and not as arbitrators) fair and 
reasonable; and

b.	 No adjustment to the subscription price shall be made which would result in the new Yee Lee Shares being 
issued at a discount to the par value of Yee Lee Shares and if such an adjustment would but for this provision 
have so resulted, the subscription price payable for such new Yee Lee Shares shall be the par value of Yee Lee 
Shares.

	 The aforesaid adjustments shall be made in accordance with the formulas as set out in First Schedule attached to the 
by-laws and on the day immediately following the books closure date for the event giving rise to the adjustments.
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32. 	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT’D)

8.	 Ranking of the ESOS option and new Yee Lee Shares arising from the exercise of the ESOS option

	 The Grantees will not be entitled to any voting right or participation in any form of distribution and/or offer of further 
securities in the Company until and unless such Grantees exercise their ESOS option into new Yee Lee Shares.

	 The new Yee Lee Shares arising from the exercise of the ESOS option shall, upon allotment and issuance, rank pari 
passu in all respects with the then existing issued and paid-up ordinary shares of the Company, except that the 
new Yee Lee Shares will not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotment and/or other form of distribution that 
may be declared, made or paid to shareholders, for which the entitlement date for the distribution precedes the 
date of which the new Yee Lee Shares are credited into the Central Depository System account with Bursa Malaysia 
Depository Sdn. Bhd. of the Grantees. The new Yee Lee Shares will be subject to all provisions of the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the Company and such amendments thereafter, if any.

9.	 Holding of the ESOS option and new Yee Lee Shares

	 Pursuant to the Listing Requirements, an eligible Director who is a Non-Executive Director shall not sell, transfer 
and/or assign the new Yee Lee Shares obtained through the exercise of the ESOS option offered to him/her within 
one (1) year from the Date of Offer.

	
	 Save for the Non-Executive Directors, the new Yee Lee Shares allotted and issued to the Grantees pursuant to the 

exercise of the ESOS option will not be subject to any holding period or restriction on transfer, disposal and/or 
assignment.

10.	 Listing of and quotation for the new Yee Lee Shares

	 The approval has been obtained from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad vide its letter dated May 29, 2012 for the 
listing of and quotation for the new Yee Lee Shares to be issued arising from the exercise of the ESOS option on the 
Main Market of Bursa Securities.

	 Details of the share options granted, exercised and lapsed during the financial year are as follows:

No. of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each

Date of
grant

Expiry
Date

Exercise
price per
ordinary

share
RM

Fair value
at grant

date
RM

Balance
as of

1.1.2013
’000 units

Granted
’000 units

Lapsed
’000 units

Exercised
’000 units

Balance
as of

31.12.2013
’000 units

17.8.2012 16.8.2017 0.78 0.1921 3,832 - (125) (2,760) 947

19.8.2013 16.8.2017 1.26 0.3289 - 4,077 (7) (18) 4,052

3,832 4,077 (132) (2,778) 4,999

	 All the share options vested on the date of grant.

	 The Company has been granted exemption by the Companies Commission of Malaysia from having to disclose the 
list of option holders, who have been granted options under the ESOS for less than 70,000 ordinary shares each. 
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32. 	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT’D)

	 Other than the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors whose interests are disclosed separately in Directors’ 
Interest, Eligible Executives who have been granted options during the current financial year under the ESOS for and in 
excess of 70,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each are as follows:

Number of options over 
ordinary shares of RM0.50 each

Mr. Lee Kon Cheng 82,500

Mr. Lim Kim Kow 82,500

Mr. Wong Hung 75,000

Y. Bhg. Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon 75,000

Mr. Seow Soon Hoo 85,000

Ms. Ooi Guat Ee 70,000

Mr. Yap Sin Kheong 70,000

	 The fair value of the options was determined using the “Black-Scholes” model based on the closing market price at offer 
date, exercise price and option life as mentioned above, expected volatility based on its historical volatility for the past 
three years, expected dividend yield based on dividend declared in year 2012 and 2013, risk-free rate at grant date and 
historical employee exercise behaviour.

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

	 Categories of financial instruments

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Trade and other receivables 136,607 142,440 16,755 15,073

Refundable deposits 589 572 2 -

Deposits, cash and bank balances 36,012 36,026 22 25

Available-for-sale: 

Investments in subsidiary companies - - 277,421 249,345

Other investments 13 12 - -

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 93,579 92,063 8,260 10,993

Borrowings 102,990 121,750 1,000 1,000

Accrued expenses 18,148 15,809 199 171
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

	 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

	 Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group and of the Company. Management continually monitor 
the Group’s and the Company’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control 
is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market conditions 
and the Group’s and the Company’s activities. 

	 There have been no changes to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which 
they manage and measure the risk.

(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Foreign currency risk 

	 The Group transacts business in various foreign currencies including United States Dollar (“USD”), Australian 
Dollar (“AUD”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), Euro (“Euro”), Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) and Vietnam Dong 
(“VND”) and therefore, is exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Group enters into foreign currency forward 
contracts to manage its exposure against foreign currency fluctuations on foreign receipts and payments. The 
Company is not exposed to foreign currency risk as it mainly transacts in RM.

	 The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the Group at the 
reporting period are disclosed in Notes 20, 23 and 29.

	 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

	 The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in exchange rates for the currencies of USD, AUD and VND. The 
management considers that the impact of other currencies to be minimal.

	 The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 1% (2012: 1%) increase and decrease in RM against 
the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rate of 1% (2012: 1%) is used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change 
in foreign exchange rates in the next 12 months.

	 The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 1% (2012: 1%) change in foreign currency rates. A 
positive number below indicates an increase in profit after tax where RM weakens by 1% (2012: 1%) against the 
respective currencies. For a 1% (2012: 1%) strengthening of RM against the respective currencies, there would 
be a decrease in the profit after tax, and the balances below would be negative.

Statements of profit or loss Other equity

The Group
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

USD impact 4 15 - -

AUD impact 97 56 - -

VND impact - - 75 65

	 The above impacts are mainly attributable to the exposure on the respective currencies on receivables and 
payables outstanding at the end of the reporting period in the Group. In the opinion of the management, the 
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not 
reflect the exposure of the Group during the year.
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a)	 Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Equity price risk

	 The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity 
investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.

	 Equity price sensitivity analysis

	 Quoted equity investments

	 Management does not consider the Group’s exposure to price risk significant at the end of the reporting period 
due to the immaterial value of other investments held as shown in Note 17. Therefore, sensitivity analysis for 
price risk of quoted investments is not disclosed.

	 Unquoted equity investments

	 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the Company’s exposure to equity price risks at 
the end of the reporting period.

	 As explained in Note 15, the fair values of investments in subsidiary companies are determined using Free Cash 
Flow to Equity valuation technique by forecasting free cash flow to equity and discounting these cash flows at 
an appropriate discount rate. 

	 The following shows the impact on the Company’s investment revaluation reserve if there are changes in the 
growth rates and discount rates used in the valuation. A negative figure indicates a decrease in investment 
revaluation reserve while a positive figure indicates an increase in the investment revaluation reserve:

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Increase in growth rate by 1.00% (2012: 1.00%) 39,800 56,884

Decrease in growth rate by 1.00% (2012: 1.00%) (30,342) (43,771)

Decrease in discount rate by 3.00% (2012: 3.00%) 238,298 51,233

Increase in discount rate by 3.00% (2012: 3.00%) (99,392) (39,155)

	 In the above scenarios, the Company’s net profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would have been 
unaffected as the equity investments are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a)	 Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Interest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group and the Company finance its operations by a mixture of internal funds and bank and other borrowings. 
The Group and the Company regularly review the interest rate profile of borrowings against prevailing and 
anticipated market rates. The repayment and maturity profiles of borrowings are structured after taking into 
consideration of the cash inflows expected to be generated from the underlying assets or operations and the 
economic life of the assets or operations being financed.

	
	 The policy of the Group and of the Company are to borrow both on the fixed and floating rate basis. The 

objective for the mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings is set to reduce the impact of an upward 
change in interest rates while enabling benefits to be enjoyed if interest rates fall.

	 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

	 At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates increase/decrease in the range of 2 to 24 basis points (2012: 
3 to 10 basis points), with all other variables held constant, the Group’s and the Company’s profit net of tax 
would have been RM92,342 and RM1,125 (2012: RM38,143 and RM750) respectively lower/higher arising mainly 
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings. The assumed movement in the interest 
rates for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

(b)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group and the Company. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The exposure of the Group to credit 
risk arises principally from its receivables, amount due from related companies and other related parties and other 
financial assets. The credit risk exposure of the Company arises from financial guarantees given to licensed banks 
and credit and leasing company for credit and hire-purchase facilities granted to subsidiary companies and other 
financial assets.

Receivables

	 The Group established policies on credit control which involves comprehensive credit evaluations, setting up 
appropriate credit limits, ensuring the sales are made to customers with good credit history and regular review of 
customers’ outstanding balances and payment trends. The Group considers the risk of material loss in the event of 
non-performance by the customers to be unlikely.

	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group is not subject to significant concentration of credit risk.

	 As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is represented 
by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit 
quality of the trade receivables. 

	 For other receivables, management does not foresee any credit risk due to the nature of other receivables 
which comprise mainly subsidy receivable from the Government under the Cooking Oil Price Stabilization and 
Standardization Scheme, claims receivable from suppliers for promotion expenses incurred on agency products and 
advance payments made to suppliers.

	 The ageing of trade receivables and amount owing by other related companies and other related parties that are 
past due are disclosed in Note 20.
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(b)	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Amount Due From Related Companies and Other Related Parties

	 The Group undertook trade transactions with other related companies and other related parties and credit period 
ranging from 30 to 120 days was set. The Company provided unsecured advances to subsidiaries and there are no 
fixed repayment terms imposed on amount due from subsidiaries as the credit risk is managed on a Group basis 
by the management of Company to ensure that risk of losses incurred by the Company due to non-repayment by 
subsidiaries, is minimal.

	 At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in 
the statement of financial position.

	 At the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the balances due from subsidiaries, other related 
companies and other related parties are not recoverable.

	 Financial Guarantee

	 The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to licensed banks and credit and leasing company in respect 
of credit and hire-purchase facilities granted to subsidiary companies. The Company monitors on an ongoing basis 
the trend of repayments made by the subsidiary companies.

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM316,259,000 (2012: RM349,727,000) representing the limit of 
credit and hire-purchase facilities of the subsidiary companies as of the end of the reporting period.

	 At the end of the financial period, there was no indication that the subsidiary companies would default on repayment.

	 Other Financial Assets

	 The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 
international credit-rating agencies.

(c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risks 

	 The Group and the Company practice prudent liquidity risk management to minimise the mismatch of financial 
assets and liabilities and to maintain sufficient credit facilities for contingent funding requirement of working 
capital. 

	 The Group’s and the Company’s principal source of liquidity has historically been cash flows from operations and 
funds obtained from long and short-term borrowings. 

	 The Group and the Company expect that the cash generated from their operations, their existing credit facilities 
and the trade terms provided by its suppliers will be sufficient to meet the Group’s and the Company’s currently 
anticipated capital expenditure and working capital needs for at least the next 12 months. 

	 The Group and the Company have credit facilities of approximately RM215,416,000 and RM1,000,000 (2012: 
RM230,048,000 and RM1,000,000) respectively which are unused at the end of the reporting period. The Group and 
the Company expect to meet their financial obligations from their operating cash flows and proceeds from maturing 
financial assets.



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 | Yee Lee Corporation Bhd 121

notes to the financial statements

33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

	 The maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as follows:

The Group

On demand
or within
one year

RM’000

One year to
five years

RM’000

Over five
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2013

Non-derivative financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 136,607 - - 136,607

Refundable deposits 589 - - 589

Deposits, cash and bank balances 36,211 - - 36,211

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 173,407 - - 173,407

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 93,579 - - 93,579

Borrowings 96,275 7,975 - 104,250

Accrued expenses 18,148 - - 18,148

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities 208,002 7,975 - 215,977

Total net undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities (34,595) (7,975) - (42,570)
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

The Group

On demand
or within
one year

RM’000

One year to
five years

RM’000

Over five
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2012

Non-derivative financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 142,440 - - 142,440

Refundable deposits 572 - - 572

Deposits, cash and bank balances 36,026 - - 36,026

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 179,038 - - 179,038

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 92,063 - - 92,063

Borrowings 113,037 11,007 - 124,044

Accrued expenses 15,809 - - 15,809

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities 220,909 11,007 - 231,916

Total net undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities (41,871) (11,007) - (52,878)
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

The Company

On demand
or within
one year

RM’000

One year to
five years

RM’000

Over five
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2013

Non-derivative financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 16,755 - - 16,755

Refundable deposits 2 - - 2

Cash and bank balances 22 - - 22

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 16,779 - - 16,779

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 8,260 - - 8,260

Borrowings 1,000 - - 1,000

Accrued expenses 199 - - 199

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities 9,459 - - 9,459

Total net undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 7,320 - - 7,320
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

The Company

On demand
or within
one year

RM’000

One year to
five years

RM’000

Over five
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2012

Non-derivative financial assets:

Trade and other receivables 15,073 - - 15,073

Cash and bank balances 25 - - 25

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 15,098 - - 15,098

Non-derivative financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 10,993 - - 10,993

Borrowings 1,000 - - 1,000

Accrued expenses 171 - - 171

Total undiscounted non-derivative 
financial liabilities 12,164 - - 12,164

Total net undiscounted non-derivative 
financial assets 2,934 - - 2,934
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(d)	 Capital risk management

	 The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure the Group and the Company will be able to continue as 
going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 
The Group’s and the Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012.

	 The capital structure of the Group and of the Company consist of net debt and equity of the Group and of the 
Company.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

Foreign exchange forward contracts 

	 The notional amounts and estimated fair values of the Group’s foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at the 
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Foreign currency Notional value Fair value

2013
’000

2012
’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Outstanding contracts

Sell USD 124 410 398 1,253 8 1

	 The fair values are calculated by reference to the current rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The 
management does not consider the above fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts significant enough to be 
adjusted in the financial statements. 

	 Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

	 The carrying amounts of short-term financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost in the financial 
statements approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 
instruments.

	 The fair values of term loans of the Group are included in Level 2 category of the fair value hierarchy in accordance 
with FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on 
the current borrowing rates for similar types of term loan arrangements. There is no material difference between the 
carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of term loans.

	 The fair values of hire-purchase of the Group are included in Level 2 category of the fair value hierarchy in accordance 
with FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the 
current borrowing rates for similar types of hire-purchase arrangements and approximate their carrying amounts.

	 The fair value of unquoted and quoted investments classified as available-for-sale are disclosed in Notes 15 and 17 
respectively.
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33.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(d)	 Capital risk management (Cont’d)

	 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

	 The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition 
at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

The Group
Level 1

RM’000
Level 2

RM’000
Level 3

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2013

Other investments 13 - - 13

2012

Other investments 12 - - 12

	 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year.

The Company
Level 1

RM’000
Level 2

RM’000
Level 3

RM’000
Total

RM’000

2013

Investments in subsidiary companies - - 277,421 277,421

2012

Investments in subsidiary companies - - 249,345 249,345

	 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year.

	 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

Available-for-sale 
financial assets
Investments in 

subsidiary companies

Company
2013

RM’000
2012

RM’000

At beginning of year 249,345 217,154

Additions arising from shares options granted 1,254 703

Total gain recognised in other comprehensive income 26,822 31,488

At end of year 277,421 249,345

	 Although the Company believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different methodologies 
or assumptions could lead to different measurements of fair value. The effects of changing one or more of the 
assumptions used are disclosed above under equity price sensitivity analysis for unquoted equity investments.

	 The favourable and unfavourable effects of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions have been calculated 
by changing the growth rates and discount rates used in Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique based on the 
probability of the Company’s changes of possible outcomes.
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34.	 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a)	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment

	 The details of additions to property, plant and equipment were as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Cash purchase 13,904 9,096

Deposit paid in prior year 5,277 4,300

Hire-purchase financing 1,991 1,728

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment capitalised 216 227

Outstanding included in other payable 129 -

Finance costs capitalised 12 18

21,529 15,369

	 The principal amounts of instalment repayments for property, plant and equipment acquired by hire-purchase are 
reflected as cash outflows from financing activities.

(b)	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include deposits, cash on hand and at 
banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown 
in the statements of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items in the statements of financial position as 
follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Deposits 9,556 14,404 - -

Cash and bank balances 26,456 21,622 22 25

Bank overdrafts (4,280) (9,631) - -

31,732 26,395 22 25

Less: Fixed deposits pledged to a  
licensed bank (10) (10) - -

31,722 26,385 22 25

35.	 COMMITMENTS

	 As of December 31, 2013, the Group has the following commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Capital expenditure:

Approved and contracted for 13,465 386
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36.	 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, 
which fall due as follows:

The Group

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Within one year 575 2,610

In the second to fifth year 98 1,637

673 4,247

	 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for leasehold land, photostat machine, warehouse 
and hostels. Leases are negotiated for terms which range from one to ten years (2012: one to ten years) with an option 
to renew the lease after that date.

37.	 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - DISCLOSURE ON REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS OR LOSSES 

	 The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2013 into realised and 
unrealised profits or losses, pursuant to the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on March 25, 2010, is as 
follows:

The Group The Company

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2013
RM’000

2012
RM’000

Total retained earnings of the Company 
and its subsidiary companies

Realised 163,173 136,291 28,950 25,823

Unrealised (9,650) (8,115) - -

Total share of retained earnings from 
associated company

Realised 21,422 16,874 - -

174,945 145,050 28,950 25,823

Add: Consolidation adjustments 2,985 2,353 - -

Total retained earnings as per statements 
of financial position 177,930 147,403 28,950 25,823

	 The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is based on Guidance of Special Matter No. 1 
“Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Securities 
Listing Requirements” as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on December 20, 2010.

	 This supplementary information have been made solely for complying with the disclosure requirements as stipulated in 
the directives of Bursa Malaysia and is not made for any other purposes.

notes to the financial statements
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The directors of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD. state that, in their opinion, the accompanying financial statements are 
drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so 
as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and of the 
financial performance and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year ended on that date.

The supplementary information set out in Note 37, which is not part of the financial statements, is prepared in all material 
respects, in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses 
in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements” as issued by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

Y. BHG. DATO’ LIM A HENG @ LIM KOK CHEONG, JSM, DPMP, JP 
Group Managing Director

MR. CHOK HOOA @ CHOK YIN FATT, PMP 
Executive Director

Ipoh,
March 17, 2014

statement by
directors

I, MR. YAP SIN KHEONG, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD., do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements are, in my opinion, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

MR. YAP SIN KHEONG

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed 
MR. YAP SIN KHEONG at IPOH this 17th day of March, 2014.

Before me,

M. LOGANAYAGI P.P.T
NO:A226
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

declaration by the officer primarily 
responsible for the financial 
management of the company
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analysis of 
shareholdings
as at may 6, 2014

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised Share Capital : RM100,000,000.00

Issued and Paid-Up Share Capital : RM89,694,100.00

Class of Shares : Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each

Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
Number of Shareholders Number of Issued Shares

Number % Number %

Less than 100 shares 122 3.62 6,733 0.00

100 to 1,000 shares 348 10.33 221,023 0.12

1,001 to 10,000 shares 1,949 57.85 10,371,038 5.78

10,001 to 100,000 shares 841 24.96 24,352,185 13.58

100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares 108 3.21 52,641,369 29.35

5% and above of issued shares 1 0.03 91,795,852 51.17

Total 3,369 100.00 179,388,200 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

	 Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

1.	 Yee Lee Organization Bhd (“YLO”) 97,312,682 54.25 - -

2.	 Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 4,812,352 2.68 99,560,967 a 55.50

3.	 Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon 1,259,369 0.70 103,100,584 b 57.47

4.	 Unikampar Credit And Leasing Sdn Bhd 
(“UCL”)

20,350 0.01 97,312,682 c 54.25

5.	 Uniyelee Sdn Bhd (“UYL”) 81,762 0.05 97,336,677 d 54.26

6.	 Yeleta Holdings Sdn Bhd (“YH”) 51,243 0.03 97,438,789 e 54.32

7.	 Young Wei Holdings Sdn Bhd (“YW”) 12,715 0.01 97,490,032 f 54.35

Notes:-

a	 Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in YW and Unipon Enterprise Sdn Bhd (“UP”), and the shares held by his 
spouse and children in the Company pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”).

b	 Deemed interest by virtue of her shareholding in YW, and the shares held by her spouse and children in the Company 
pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.

c	 Deemed interest held through YLO pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
d	 Deemed interest held through Uniyelee Insurance Agencies Sdn Bhd and YLO pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
e	 Deemed interest held through UCL and UYL pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
f	 Deemed interest held through YH pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE COMPANY AND ITS RELATED CORPORATION

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company and its related corporation maintained by the Company in the 
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings pursuant to Section 134 of the Act are as follows:-

Shares in the company

	 Name of Directors

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

1.	 Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak  
bin Haji Mohamed Ariff

2,978,614 1.66 455,000 a 0.25

2.	 Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 4,812,352 2.68 99,560,967 b 55.50

3.	 Thang Lai Sung 78,398 0.04 - -

4.	 Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt 174,032 0.10 - -

5.	 Lim Ee Young 771,356 0.43 14,000 c 0.01

6.	 Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik 91,664 0.05 - -

7.	 Lee Kee Hong 70,312 0.04 - -

8.	 Sow Yeng Chong 11,000 0.01 1,808 c **

Notes:-

a	 Deemed interest by virtue of the shares held by his spouse and children in the Company pursuant to Section 6A of the 
Act.

b	 Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in YW and UP, and the shares held by his spouse and children in the 
Company pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.

c	 Deemed interest by virtue of the shares held by his spouse in the Company pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.
**	 Negligible

Shares in the holding company, Yee Lee Organization Bhd

	 Name of Directors

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

Number of
Issued Shares

% of 
Issued Shares

1.	 Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 2,751 0.03 7,974,506 a 72.50

2.	 Thang Lai Sung 1,716 0.02 - -

3.	 Lim Ee Young 31,614 0.29 - -

4.	 Lee Kee Hong 19,800 0.18 - -

a	 Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholding in YW and UP, and the shares held by his spouse and children in YLO 
pursuant to Section 6A of the Act.

By virtue of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong’s interest in the shares of the holding company, Yee Lee Organization Bhd, 
he is also deemed to have an interest in the shares of all the subsidiary companies to the extent that the holding company 
has interest.

analysis of shareholdings
as at may 6, 2014
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TOP THIRTY SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS

	 Shareholders
Number of

Issued Shares
% of 

Issued Shares

1.	 Yee Lee Organization Bhd 91,795,852 51.17
2.	 Yee Lee Organization Bhd 5,516,830 3.08
3.	 Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong 4,812,352 2.68
4.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 

	 Deutsche Bank AG Singapore for IAM Traditional Asian Growth Fund
3,016,000 1.68

5.	 Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff 2,978,614 1.66
6.	 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 

	 Public Strategic Smallcap Fund
1,720,000 0.96

7.	 Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha 1,570,000 0.88
8.	 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

	 Employees Provident Fund Board (PHEIM)
1,490,000 0.83

9.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Eastspring Investments Small-Cap Fund

1,489,600 0.83

10.	 Jailani bin Abdullah 1,433,264 0.80
11.	 Lai Ka Chee 1,285,232 0.72
12.	 Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon 1,259,369 0.70
13.	 JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

	 Pledged Securities Account for Teo Kwee Hock
1,000,040 0.56

14.	 HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for RHB-OSK Small Cap Opportunity Unit Trust 

1,000,000 0.56

15.	 JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Pledged Securities Account for Teo Siew Lai

1,000,000 0.56

16.	 Koperasi Permodalan Felda Malaysia Berhad 1,000,000 0.56
17.	 Lim Peng Jin 1,000,000 0.56
18.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

	 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Eastspring Investments Dana Al-Ilham
899,300 0.50

19.	 Lim Ee Young 771,356 0.43
20.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  

	 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Hong Leong Consumer Products 
		  Sector Fund

710,000 0.40

21.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Eastspring Investments My Focus Fund

581,600 0.32

22.	 HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for RHB-OSK Emerging Opportunity Unit Trust

550,000 0.31

23.	 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Exempt An for RHB Islamic International Asset Management Berhad

524,900 0.29

24.	 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Eastspring Investments Balanced Fund

523,600 0.29

25.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 CIMB Bank for Kuan Peng Ching @ Kuan Peng Soon

489,500 0.27

26. UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd  
	 Exempt An for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd

456,000 0.25

27.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
	 Pheim Asset Management Sdn Bhd for Toh Lian Choo (Che King Tow)

450,000 0.25

28.	 Tan Eng Guan 450,000 0.25
29.	 Wong Shak On 400,000 0.22
30.	 Chua Yeow Huat 380,000 0.21

	 Total 130,553,409 72.78

analysis of shareholdings
as at may 6, 2014
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TOP 10 PROPERTIES
OF THE GROUP
AS AT december 31, 2013

Location Tenure Current Use

Approximate 
Age of 

Building 
(Years)

Land/Gross 
Floor Area 

(sq.metres)
Date of Last 
Revaluation

Net Book 
Value

RM’000

PT No 31095, HS(D) 24203
Mukim of Batu, 
District of Gombak,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Freehold 3-storey office 
and warehouse

13 14,729/ 
12,274

31.12.2009 28,911

Provisional Lease
No. 066290168,
Kg Nalapak,
District of Ranau,
Sabah

Leasehold 
expiring on 
31.12.2080

Plantation, 
office, factory, 
warehouse and 
labour housing

32 8,314,820/
13,492

31.12.2009 19,232

Lots No. 72169,
158022 and
PT80026,
Mukim of Ulu Kinta,
District of Kinta,
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Leasehold 
expiring on 
01.09.2075, 
30.07.2088 and 
28.03.2050 
respectively

3-storey 
office, factory, 
warehouse and 
adjoining vacant 
land

38 34,368/
18,967

31.12.2009 17,539

Provisional Lease
No. 066290168,
Kg Nalapak,
District of Ranau,
Sabah

Leasehold 
expiring on 
31.12.2080

Vacant 
agriculture land

- 13,003,967 31.12.2009 16,042

Lot Nos. 9399,
and 10169,
Mukim of Bidor,
District of Batang,
Batang Padang,
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Leasehold 
expiring on 
30.06.2046 
and 05.07.2048 
respectively

2-storey palm 
oil mill, office 
and factory 
warehouse

29 150,625/
11,637

31.12.2009 14,917

HS(M) 3292 - Lot PTD102569,
Mukim Senai, Daerah Kulai Jaya,
Johor Darul Takzim

Freehold One storey 
warehouse and 
office

- 25,353/
4,604

30.06.2010 9,820

Lot Nos. 15917-15918, 46292,
46300-46301, 46303-46315, 
20276 & 20338, Mukim of Kampar
Lot Nos. 20339 & 20340, 
Mukim of Teja, District of Kinta
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Freehold Oil palm estate - 1,984,093 31.12.2009 9,240

Lot No. 119 
Rawang Integrated Industrial Park
Mukim of Rawang
District of Gombak
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Freehold 2-storey office, 
factory and 
warehouse

17 10,866/
7,441

31.12.2009 8,919

Plot 151a, 
Jalan Perindustrian Bukit Minyak,
Kawasan Perindustrian Bukit Minyak,
Mukim 13, 14100 S.P.T.
Pulau Pinang

Leasehold 60 
years

Single storey 
warehouse and 
2-storey office

6 13,520/
5,504

31.12.2009 7,522

Lot Nos. 3858-3864, 3867, 3879,
3882-3883, 3888, 3921-3926, 
3928-3931, 3933-3947, 3950-3951, 
3965-3967, 3970, 3972-3975, 3977,
Mukim and District of Batang
Padang, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Freehold Oil palm estate - 970,590 31.12.2009 6,000
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I/We,

NRIC/Passport/Company No.

of

being a member of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD, hereby appoint

NRIC/Passport/Company No.

of

or failing whom,                                                                                               NRIC/Passport/Company No.

of

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Forty-First Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 
Wednesday, June 25, 2014 at 11.00 a.m. at Rooms 4 & 5, Level 1, Impiana Hotel Ipoh, No. 18, Jalan Raja Dr. Nazrin Shah, 30250 Ipoh, 
Perak Darul Ridzuan and at any adjournment thereof for/against* the resolutions to be proposed thereat. 

RESOLUTION NO. DESCRIPTIONS FOR AGAINST

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To declare a first and final dividend

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees

3. To re-elect Lee Kee Hong as Director

4. To re-elect Sow Yeng Chong as Director

5.
To re-appoint Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff 
as Director

6. To re-appoint Thang Lai Sung as Director

7.

To re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte (formerly known as Deloitte KassimChan) 
as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration

SPECIAL BUSINESS

8.
To authorise the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of 
the Companies Act, 1965

9. To approve the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate

Dated this   _______________   day of June 2014.

	   Signatures/Common Seal of Members

*	 Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. If no 
specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.

Notes:-
(i)	 A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.
(ii)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such appointor is a corporation, under 

its Seal or the hand of its attorney.
(iii)	 A member may appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy and such appointment shall be 

invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy. 
(iv) 	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 which holds ordinary shares 

in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised 
nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it hold.

 (v)	 This instrument duly completed must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot 85, Jalan Portland, Tasek Industrial Estate, 31400 Ipoh, Perak Darul 
Ridzuan not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

(vi) 	 Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at June 18, 2014 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or 
vote on his behalf.

No. of shares held
CDS Account No.form of proxy

(Full name in block letters)

(Full name in block letters)

(Full name in block letters)

(Address)

(Address)

(Address)
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YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD
Lot 85, Jalan Portland
Tasek Industrial Estate
31400 Ipoh
Perak Darul Ridzuan
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